Mercury Contamination in Indonesia: A Critical Review and Case Study of Communities Near Gold Mining Areas.

インドネシアの水銀汚染:金採掘地域のレビューおよび事 例研究



Syafran Arrazy (2075003)

Graduate School of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto, Japan. September 2023

Mercury Contamination in Indonesia: A Critical Review and Case Study of Communities Near Gold Mining Areas.

インドネシアの水銀汚染:金採掘地域のレビューおよび事 例研究



Syafran Arrazy (2075003)

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirement ^{for} the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.) in Graduate School of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto, Japan. September 2023

ABSTRACT

Mercury (Hg) is a prevalent pollutant in Indonesia, primarily as a result of its extensive use in gold mining, especially artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM). This activity is responsible for 67% (244 tons) of the total mercury emissions in the country. Approximately 32 percent is released into the atmosphere. ASGM amalgamation techniques release large amounts of mercury into water bodies, polluting aquatic ecosystems and bioaccumulating mercury in fish, a staple meal for many Indonesians. Indonesian mercury contamination has far-reaching effects. Mercury exposure can harm miners and neighbors. This study aims to evaluate the current status of mercury pollution in Indonesia, analyze the key sources and pathways of contamination, assess the impacts on human health and the environment, and analyze the spatial distribution and risk to the community near ASGM.

The review included 54 studies and found considerable variations in mercury levels across different regions in the country. The arithmetic means of mercury concentrations in air, soil, water, and sediment were 1.97 μ g/m³ (*n*=3), 52.26 mg/kg (*n*=9), 76.33 μ g/L (*n*=18), and 14.06 mg/kg (*n*=7), respectively, far exceeding the Indonesian standard values of 1 μ g/m³, 0.3 mg/kg, 1 μ g/L, and 0.3 mg/kg. The study also found that vegetables and aquatic food samples had high mercury concentrations, with arithmetic mean values of 3.52 mg/kg dry weight (*n*=4) and 0.61 mg/kg wet weight (*n*=19), respectively. Approximately 50% of vegetable samples and 21% of aquatic food samples exceeded the Indonesian standard values of 0.03 mg/kg and 0.5 mg/kg, respectively. Root vegetables and mollusks had the highest mercury concentration.

A case study in Mandailing Natal District showed results of Hg concentrations in the rice and vegetables were $50 \pm 33 \,\mu\text{g/kg} \,\text{dw} (n=20)$ and $2,100 \pm 2,500 \,\mu\text{g/kg} \,\text{dw} (n=12)$, respectively, and that in the paddy soil and farm soil were $5,600 \pm 12,000 \,\mu\text{g/kg} \,\text{dw} (n=20)$ and $19,000 \pm 33,000 \,\mu\text{g/kg} \,\text{dw} (n=12)$, respectively Hg concentrations in the food, soil and drinking water samples decreased statistically significantly with increasing distance from the amalgam burning facility to the sampling site, suggesting that the burning facility is a major source of mercury in this area. All drinking water samples were below the WHO safe value of mercury, whereas 96% of the vegetable and 82% of rice samples exceeded the safe value from the Indonesian National Standard or the FAO/WHO. The non-cancer risk calculated from the hazard quotients for the rice and vegetables exceeded 1 for children and adults. These results suggest potential health risks for residents who rely primarily on locally produced vegetables and rice.

The study highlights the urgency of addressing mercury contamination in Indonesia, especially in ASGM areas, and provides a reference for future research and policy development to reduce mercury exposure. Furthermore, a case study in Mandailing Natal District indicates a possible health risk for people who mostly consume locally grown vegetables and grains. Mercury contamination in vegetables and rice cultivated in the regions of this study will certainly rise over time due to the Hg deposition to the soil by gold mining activities. Further monitoring against Hg contamination is required to reduce the health risks for residents.

Keywords: mercury, environmental media, foodstuff, rice, vegetable, Indonesia

Thesis Supervisor:

Yasuhiro ISHIBASHI, Professor of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto

Thesis Sub-Supervisor:

- Jun KOBAYASHI, Professor of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto
- Tetsuro AGUSA, Professor of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Alhamdulillahirobbil 'alamin. Praise and gratitude to the presence of Allah SWT for all the blessings of faith in the spirit, the blessings of knowledge in the mind, and all the blessings of health in the body that have sustained me in the writing and completion of this Ph.D. program. I also extend my heartfelt gratitude to the Kumamoto Prefectural Government, Japan, and the Prefectural University of Kumamoto, Japan, for providing me with the invaluable scholarship opportunity. I appreciate the Kumamoto Government's commitment to education and their generous support for international scholarship in mercury research, which I hope will contribute to a better global environment in the future.

In the process of writing this thesis, I have received significant help, support, and guidance from various individuals and institutions. Therefore, on this occasion, I would like to express my sincere gratitude and respect to:

- I extend my deepest thanks to my esteemed supervisors, *Prof. Yasuhiro Ishibashi*, *Prof. Jun Kobayashi* and *Prof Tetsuro Agusa* for their unwavering guidance and valuable insights in completing my doctoral work at the Graduate School of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, Prefectural University of Kumamoto (PUK). I am profoundly grateful for the wealth of experiences and knowledge I have gained under their mentorship.
- 2. Special thanks to *Ms. Nana Hirota* and *Mrs. Yuki Imuta* for their kindness and assistance with my laboratory work at the Ishibashi and Kobayashi Laboratory.
- 3. I sincerely appreciate to all the professors and other staff of the Faculty of Environmental and Symbiotic Sciences, for their invaluable support and contributions.
- 4. I am grateful to *Mrs. Megumi Hashiba*, *Mr. Vio Restea*, and all the staff at CIEE for their invaluable support during my time in Japan, including Japanese language classes and other assistance.
- 5. My heartfelt thanks to my international friends *Pyae Son Soe*, *Huiho Jeong*, *Fan Chunlan, Teerapong Duangdee, Phan Dinh Quang, Sylvester Addai-Arhin, Willy Cahya Nugraha, Patrick Adu Poku*, and *Tia Agustiani* at PUK for their kindness and friendship.

- 6. To my past and current laboratory colleagues in the Kobayashi and Ishibashi Laboratories, I appreciate your support and friendship.
- Thank you to the Indonesia Community in Kumamoto for providing a sense of home during my stay and for memorable short vacations that helped keep my mind refreshed.
- 8. My gratitude to my students *Mr. Adri Hasanuddin, Mrs. Nikmah Khairani Batubara* and *Mrs. Suaibah* for their assistance in collecting samples.
- 9. I am most grateful to my beloved family and friends in Indonesia for their unwavering support throughout my studies in Japan.
- 10. Finally, I extend my deepest appreciation to my wife and children for their endless love, understanding, and patience during this challenging journey.

With the culmination of this thesis, I hope that it will prove to be a valuable resource for both authors and readers. I am aware that there may be areas for improvement in this work, and I humbly welcome constructive criticism and suggestions.

ABSTRACT	i
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
CONTENTS	v
LIST OF FIGURES	vii
LIST OF TABLES	viii
CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Background	2
1.2 Problem of the Study	4
1.3 Objectives of the Study	5
1.4 Scope/Limitation of the Study	5
CHAPTER II Critical Review of Mercury Contamination in Indonesia.	7
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Materials and Methods	9
2.2.1 Literature search strategy	9
2.2.2 Study selection	
2.2.3 Data extraction and quality assessment	
2.2.4 Data analysis	
2.3 Results and Discussion	
2.3.1 Literature search results and discussion	
2.3.2 Mercury concentrations in environmental media	11
2.3.3 Mercury concentrations in foodstuffs	
2.3.4 Mercury concentrations in human hair	19
2.3.5 Study limitations	
2.4 Conclusion	
CHAPTER III Spatial Distribution and Human Health Risks of Mer	cury in the
Gold Mining Area of Mandailing Natal District, Indonesia	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials and Methods	
3.2.1 Study area and sampling sites	
3.2.2 Sample preparation and pre-treatment	
3.3.3 Analytical methods	

CONTENTS

3.3.4 Quality assurance and quality control	26
3.3.5 Risk assessment methodology	26
3.3.6 Statistical analysis	28
3.3 Results and Discussion	29
3.3.1 Hg concentration in rice and vegetable samples	29
3.3.2 Hg concentration in soil samples	30
3.3.3 Hg concentration in water samples	31
3.3.4 Relationship of Hg concentration between food and soil samples	31
3.3.5 Spatial distribution of Hg concentration in the study area	32
3.3.6 Evaluation of Hg contamination in the study area	33
3.3.7 Resident health risk assessment	34
3.4 Conclusions	36
CHAPTER IV CONCLUSIONS	37
4.1 Conclusions	38
4.2 Recommendation	39
REFERENCES	41

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Anthropogenic mercury emissions by sector. Indonesia's contribution	
	(darker bars) to global emissions (lighter bars)	2
Figure 1.2	Mercury consumption in ASGM	3
Figure 1.3	Research Framework / Risk Analysis Process	6
Figure 2.1	Flowchart of the study selection process	9
Figure 3.1	Map of sampling sites	25
Figure 3.2	Relationship of log Hg concentration between food and soil samples	31
Figure 3.3	Comparison of log Hg concentration in samples between the villages	32
Figure 3.4	Relationship between the log Hg concentration in the samples and the	
	distance from the burning facility to the sampling site	33

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1. Mercury concentration ($\mu g/m^3$) in the outdoor air in Indonesia
Table 2.2. Mercury concentration in soil (mg/kg) in Indonesia 12
Table 2.3. Mercury concentration (μ g/L) in surface water in Indonesia
Table 2.4. Mercury concentration in sediment (mg/kg) in Indonesia
Table 2.5. Mercury concentration in vegetable samples (mg/kg d.w.) in Indonesia 15
Table 2.6. Mercury concentration in aquatic food (mg/kg w.w.) in Indonesia 16
Table 2.7. Mercury concentration in human hair (mg/kg) in Indonesia18
Table 2.8. Percentage of studies exceeding standard
Table 3.1. Parameters used to estimate average daily intake (ADI)
Table 3.2. Hg concentrations in rice, vegetable, soil, and water samples 29
Table 3.3. Average daily intake (ADI) and hazard quotient (HQ) of Hg for resident 34

CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background

Mercury, recognized as one of the top ten chemicals of public health concern by the World Health Organization (WHO, 2021b), poses a substantial threat to human wellbeing globally. This concern is exacerbated by the prevalence of mercury pollution originating from artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM), which has emerged as a prominent source of mercury contamination both on a global scale and within Indonesia. ASGM operations, often informal and lacking in environmental safeguards, significantly contribute to global mercury emissions, accounting for up to 37 percent of the total emissions (UNEP, 2019). Notably, Indonesia stands as a noteworthy contributor to this issue, responsible for a staggering 64 percent of the country's total mercury emissions (IPEN, 2018). While ASGM constitutes a primary source, other sectors such as industry, fuel consumption, intentional use, and waste also play roles in mercury pollution (UNEP, 2019). The gravity of mercury contamination necessitates comprehensive research efforts and interventions to mitigate its adverse effects on the environment and public health.

Mercury contamination poses a grave global concern, with up to 2200 tonnes of mercury emissions annually originating from over 70 countries worldwide (UNEP, 2013a). Among these countries, Indonesia stands out as a significant contributor, representing approximately 29 percent of global mercury emissions associated with artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) (Telmer & Veiga, 2008).



Figure 1.1 Anthropogenic mercury emissions by sector. Indonesia's contribution (darker bars) to global emissions (lighter bars). (IPEN, 2018; UNEP, 2019)

This notable contribution ranks Indonesia as the third-largest emitter globally, following China and Colombia (UNEP, 2013b). This statistic underscores the substantial environmental impact of ASGM activities within Indonesia and emphasizes the urgency of addressing mercury pollution in this region.

Indonesia faces a complex challenge when it comes to artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM), with more than 2,741 illegal ASGM sites spread across 30 provinces. Some of these operations have been established for over a decade, revealing the persistence and scale of this informal mining sector (Kambey et al., 2001). The extensive reach of ASGM in Indonesia is further underscored by the fact that over 1 million individuals are directly employed in ASGM activities (BaliFokus, 2018). Beyond the immediate workforce, the livelihoods of more than 5 million people depend on ASGM in various capacities, highlighting the socioeconomic significance of this sector (BaliFokus, 2018). The prevalence of illegal ASGM operations and the substantial number of individuals reliant on this sector emphasize the pressing need for sustainable and responsible mining practices to mitigate the associated environmental and health risks.



Figure 1.2 Mercury consumption in ASGM (UNEP, 2013)

In response to the multifaceted challenges posed by mercury pollution, Indonesia has undertaken significant policy measures and initiatives. In 2013, the country ratified the Minamata Convention on Mercury, signaling its commitment to addressing and mitigating mercury-related issues on a national scale (Djatmiko et al., 2019). Furthermore,

Indonesia has initiated a National Action Plan for Reduction and Elimination in 2021, reflecting a proactive stance in combating mercury pollution and safeguarding the environment and public health (Presidential Regulation of Indonesia, 2019). Among the pivotal targets set within this framework, the ASGM sector is slated to achieve Mercury-Free status by 2025, highlighting the government's dedication to curbing the adverse impacts of mercury contamination within this sector and ensuring a sustainable and responsible approach to gold mining (Presidential Regulation of Indonesia, 2019). These policy endeavors exemplify Indonesia's commitment to addressing the pressing issue of mercury pollution and its proactive efforts to safeguard environmental and public wellbeing.

1.2 Problem of the Study

Drawing from the contextual background provided, several critical issues have come to light. Firstly, there exists a significant gap in the availability of a comprehensive overview of the mercury situation in Indonesia. This gap hampers our understanding of the sources, pathways, and impacts of mercury pollution within the country. Secondly, the persistence of small-scale gold mining activities in the Hutabargot District of Mandailing Natal Regency is noteworthy. These operations continue to flourish, raising concerns about their environmental and health implications. Thirdly, small-scale gold miners in this region employ mercury (Hg) in their operations, specifically in the process of amalgam burning, which has significant implications for both local ecosystems and human health.

Considering these issues, the research problems can be formulated as follows: Mercury Condition in Indonesia: How can we comprehensively assess the state of mercury in Indonesia, encompassing its sources, pathways, and impacts on foodstuffs and human populations? Mercury Assessment in ASGM Areas: What is the current status of mercury contamination in the environment and food sources within a specific case study area, namely the small-scale gold mining (ASGM) region of Hutabargot District, Mandailing Natal Regency, North Sumatra? These research questions serve as the guiding framework for our study, facilitating an in-depth exploration of mercury pollution in Indonesia and a localized assessment of its impact in the specified ASGM area.

1.3 Objectives of the Study

The main purpose of this study was to be understanding the mercury contamination of environment and food, and the implication to human health and environment.

The specific objectives were to:

- a. Summarize and review the mercury contamination in the environmental media (air, soil, water and sediment) and foods consumed or produced in Indonesia and human hair to improve the understanding at regional, national, and global levels.
- Assessment of the mercury contamination in the environment and food in residents near the gold mining area, and risk characterization of mercury consumption patterns from environmental and food in the general population

These three specific objectives constituted chapters 2 and 3 of this study, respectively.

1.4 Scope/Limitation of the Study

This study adopts a research framework established by the 1986 National Risk Council, emphasizing the identification of environmental hazards and subsequent risk categorization. Our research scope, as detailed in the specific objectives, encompasses various environmental media, including air, soil, water, and sediment, as well as food sources, specifically plants and fish, with a particular emphasis on their influence on mercury levels in human hair. In the case of review studies, we adopt a focused approach, limiting our analysis to systematic reviews due to the substantial heterogeneity of available data. It is essential to acknowledge that variations in sample size and geographic locations within Indonesia may introduce potential limitations, which could impede broad generalization. Nevertheless, despite these constraints, this research endeavor aims to provide a comprehensive overview of mercury pollution in Indonesia, yielding valuable insights into the extent and implications of this pervasive issue.

Furthermore, in the assessment of health risks within the Mandailing Natal case study, located in Indonesia, our investigation pertains to potential health hazards stemming from combined exposure routes, namely oral ingestion, inhalation, and dermal contact. The case study in Mandailing Natal is deliberately delimited to artisanal smallscale gold mining (ASGM) due to its status as the largest source of mercury emissions in Indonesia. Additionally, rice and vegetables are selected as primary food samples in this study, aligning with their significance as staple foods for many Indonesians, thus



rendering them suitable indicators for assessing mercury-related health risks.

Figure 1.3 Research Framework / Risk Analysis Process (Council of the European Communities, 1986)

CHAPTER II Critical Review of Mercury Contamination in Indonesia

2.1 Introduction

Mercury is one of the most toxic heavy metals that is released into the environment through various anthropogenic activities such as artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM), coal combustion, industrial processes, and waste incineration. Only about 10% of mercury emissions are estimated to come from natural sources, while the remaining 90% come from human activities (UNEP, 2013a, 2022). These activities have led to the accumulation of mercury in different environmental compartments, including air, water, soil, and sediment. Consequently, the release and dispersion of mercury have caused adverse effects on both the environment and human populations.

In Indonesia and around the world, ASGM is a prominent source of mercury pollution (IPEN, 2018; UNEP, 2013a, 2019). ASGM involving amalgamation contributes to the release of substantial amounts of mercury into water bodies, resulting in the contamination of aquatic ecosystems and the bioaccumulation of mercury in fish which is a dietary staple for many Indonesians. Additionally, industrial activities, such as coal-fired power plants and waste incineration, further contribute to the emission of mercury into the atmosphere, exacerbating the pollution issue, and approximately 32 percent is released into the atmosphere (UNEP, 2013a).

Based on the 2019 report by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP, 2019), worldwide mercury emissions resulting from artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) amount to 838 tons, accounting for 38 percent of global emissions. Additionally, findings from the 2022 report by The International Pollutants Elimination Network (IPEN, 2018) indicate that ASGM activities in Indonesia alone contribute to about 244 tons of mercury emissions, making up 67 percent of the country's total emissions. Notably, Indonesia represents 29 percent of global ASGM-related mercury emissions, ranking as the third largest contributor globally after China and Colombia (UNEP, 2013a). Indonesia also confronts grave threats from the global illegal trade in mercury and the environmental degradation caused by mercury emissions and releases (Drwiega, 2018).

In Indonesia, mercury contamination has far-reaching effects. Both mine employees and residents of affected areas may experience severe health effects from mercury exposure (Bose-O'Reilly et al., 2016a). Mercury toxicity can cause neurological disorders, developmental delays in children, and other systemic health problems (WHO, 2021a). To address these issues, Indonesia has implemented various policies and initiatives to

mitigate mercury pollution, including ratifying the Minamata Convention on Mercury 2017 (WHO, 2021a), and initiating National Action Plan for Reduction and Elimination in 2021, with the goal of achieving mercury-free status for ASGM sector by 2025 (Presidential Regulation No. 21. National Action Plan for the Reduction and Abolishment of Mercury, 2019). This critical review aims to analyze the current state of mercury pollution in Indonesia, investigate the key sources, and pathways of contamination, and assess the effects on human health and the environment.

2.2 Materials and Methods

2.2.1 Literature search strategy

In this study, the search was conducted in various international databases, namely PubMed, Scopus, Embase, and EBSCO, as well as local databases such as Neliti and OneSearch. The literature search focused on six variables and sources of Hg pollution: air, soil, water, sediment, food, and hair. A systematic review employed the phrases "Mercury," "Hg," "Air," "Soil," "Water," "Sediment," "Food," and "Hair" alone or in combination with "OR" and/or "AND". The literature search was conducted in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guideline, as depicted in Figure 2.1 (Moher et al., 2009).



Figure 2.1 Flowchart of the study selection process.

2.2.2 Study selection

The reference citations were exported to EndNote (version X9.3.3), and the deduplication feature was used to identify references listed in the replicate. Two independent reviewers screened the titles and abstracts of the identified studies based on pre-defined inclusion and exclusion criteria. The inclusion criteria were adopted in the original studies reporting the levels of mercury in environmental media (air, soil, water, and sediment), foodstuffs (vegetables and fish), and human hair in Indonesia. The exclusion criteria included research that was not conducted in Indonesia, was not available in full text, was not available in English or Indonesian, and was published in a predatory publication. In situations where reviewers disagreed, a third reviewer was consulted.

2.2.3 Data extraction and quality assessment

Data on mercury concentrations in environmental media were extracted from the selected studies. The following information was extracted: first author, year of data collection, study location/site description, sample type, sample size, analytical method, and average or range of Hg concentrations. The data were organized and analyzed using Microsoft Excel for Microsoft 365.

2.2.4 Data analysis

The data extracted from the included studies were synthesized and presented in a narrative synthesis format. The findings were summarized in tables and graphs to illustrate the variation in mercury levels across different regions in Indonesia. The articles included in the study comprised a highly diverse population. As a result, the authors chose to describe the levels in each of the several populations rather than combining the data in a meta-analysis.

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 Literature search results and discussion

The systematic literature search yielded 1,051 studies, of which 54 met the review's inclusion criteria. On the islands of Sumatra and Kalimantan, relatively little research has been conducted, while research in this systematic review is mainly found on the islands of Java and Sulawesi. The most studied research variable is environmental media 53% (n=37), followed by foodstuff 33% (n=23), and human hair 14% (n=10).

Province	Location/Site Description	Samples (n)	Concentration (µg/m³)	Ref.
Bengkulu	Muara Aman, ASGM area	3	1.30	(Nakazawa et al., 2021)
	Muara Aman, resident area	6	0.01 ± 0.00	
Central Kalimantan	Palangkaraya, river area	4	0.01 ± 0.01	
	Palangkaraya. city area	4	0.04 ± 0.07	
Central Sulawesi	Palu, ASGM area	2	4.08	
	Palu, resident area	18	0.52 ± 0.42	
Central Sulawesi	Palu, ASGM area	11	9.17 ± 16.42	(Nakazawa et al., 2016)
	Palu, resident area	60	0.20 ± 0.18	
South Sulawesi	Pangkep, cement power plant	10	2.43 ± 0.98	(Mallongi et al., 2020)
Air standard	ACGIH – United States (8 hr)		25	(NJDH, 2009)
	SCOEL – European Union (8 hr)		20	(SCOEL, 2007)
	WHO (Annual)		1	(WHO, 2000)
	Japan (Annual)		0.04	(Takiguchi et al., 2018)

Table 2.1. Mercury concentration $(\mu g/m^3)$ in the outdoor air in Indonesia.

Abbreviations: ACGIH, American Conference of Governmental Industrial Hygienists; SCOEL, Scientific Committee on Occupational Exposure Limits; WHO, World Health Organization

2.3.2 Mercury concentrations in environmental media

Table 2.1 presents Hg concentrations (μ g/m3) in outdoor air in Indonesia. Mercury exists in three major forms in the atmosphere: gaseous elemental mercury (GEM), gaseous oxidized mercury (GOM), and particle-bound mercury (PBM). GEM has a residence time in the atmosphere ranging from 3 to 12 months, while GOM and PBM have shorter residence times, typically lasting from a few hours to weeks (Horowitz et al., 2017). Nakazawa et al., (2021; 2016) analyzed GEM concentrations, while Mallongi et al., (2020) examined total mercury in dust, which includes both gaseous and particulate mercury. Nakazawa et al., (2016) found the highest Hg concentration of 9.17 μ g/m³ in the ASGM area in Central Sulawesi. The concentration decreased to 4.08 µg/m³ in 2021, with nearby residential areas showing 0.20 µg/m³ and 0.52 µg/m³ in 2016 and 2021, respectively Nakazawa et al., (2021; 2016). A study conducted in Bengkulu province also reported higher concentrations of Hg in the air in ASGM areas compared to residential areas (Nakazawa et al., 2021). Mallongi et al., (2020) determined that Hg concentration of 2.43 μ g/m³ in South Sulawesi from the cement power plant area. This study found that both the ASGM process and cement power plants had higher mercury levels compared to residential regions. The concentration of mercury in the air of Indonesia is relatively low compared to ACGIH (2009) and SCOEL (2007) for 8 hours but above WHO's (2000) recommended levels for the annual averaging period. This study reports the average mercury concentration in Indonesia's air at 1.97 μ g/m³, higher above the WHO (2000)

and Japanese (Takiguchi & Tamura, 2018) guidelines of 1 and 0.04 µg/m³, respectively.

Province	Location/Site Description	Samples Concentration		Ref.	
		(<i>n</i>)	(mg/kg)		
Aceh	Nagan Raya, ASGM area	3	0.28 ± 0.04	(Nisah et al., 2022)	
Banten	Lebaksitu, ASGM area	15	1.24 ± 0.89	(Novirsa et al., 2019)	
West Java	Bogor, ASGM area	9	9.00 ± 8.40	(Tomiyasu et al., 2017)	
West Java	Depok-Bekasi, e-waste recycling area	5	15.20 ± 28.5	(Soetrisno et al., 2020)	
East Java	Batu, Agriculture	4	<lod< td=""><td>(Agil et al., 2021)</td></lod<>	(Agil et al., 2021)	
South Sulawesi	Pangkajene, agriculture coal, and	13	61.90 ± 51.70	(Astuti et al., 2021)	
	cement industry area				
	Pangkajene, non-agriculture coal, and	9	61.80 ± 42.5		
	cement industry area				
South Sulawesi	Maros, agriculture cement plant area	10	77.30 ± 43.59	(Rauf et al., 2020)	
	Maros, non-agriculture cement plant	10	42.20 ± 25.11		
South Sulawesi	Pangkep, cement power plant	10	0.02 ± 0.01	(Mallongi et al., 2020)	
Southeast Sulawesi	Bombana, ASGM area	8	390 ± 860	(Basri et al., 2020a)	
	Bombana, mining commercial area	12	13.00 ± 17.00		
	Bombana, control area	6	7.40 ± 9.90		
Soil standard	Indonesia		0.30	(IMEF, 2021)	
	Canada		0.16	(CME, 2011)	
	South Africa		0.93	(DEA, 2010a)	
	Australia		1.00	(CEC, 1986)	
	European Union		1.50	(EPAA, 2018)	

Table 2.2. Mercury concentration in soil (mg/kg) in Indonesia

Nine (9) investigations found Hg contamination in Indonesian soil samples from various districts. The primary sources of contamination include atmospheric deposition from ASGM, coal, cement, and additional industrial activities. Table 2.2 provides an overview of the soil Hg analysis findings. The highest Hg concentration in soil was found in the ASGM area of Southeast Sulawesi (390 mg/kg) by Basri et al., (2020a). This was followed by the cement power plant area in South Sulawesi (77.3 mg/kg) (Rauf et al., 2020) and the coal and cement industrial area in South Sulawesi (61.9 mg/kg) (Astuti et al., 2021). Similar results were observed in other research areas, such as the ASGM area in Banten (1.24 mg/kg) (Novirsa, Dinh, et al., 2019), and in West Java (9.00 mg/kg) (Tomiyasu et al., 2017), However, disappointing results were obtained from the ASGM area in Aceh (0.28 mg/kg) (Nisah et al., 2022) and cement power plant in South Sulawesi (0.02 mg/kg) (Mallongi et al., 2020). The lower Hg concentrations in Aceh can be attributed to the early stages of ASGM in the region, with few hotspots present. Several variables, including total organic carbon (TOC) and distance from the contamination source, influence Hg concentrations in soil (Cheng et al., 2020). The extremely high Hg

result of Bombana ASGM area is possibly due to the naturally occurring cinnabar in the soil (Idrus et al., 2017). Cinnabar is the most prevalent natural source of mercury and has been mined for thousands of years. According to UNEP, between 2010 and 2015, Indonesia and Mexico opened new mercury mines, both before ratifying the Minamata Convention (UNEP, 2017). The average mercury concentration in the soil of Indonesia is 52.26 mg/kg, surpassing the Indonesian safe limit (0.3 mg/kg) (IMEF, 2021). In areas affected by gold mining and the cement industry, the average mercury concentration in soil was found to be 174 times higher than the recommended level, highlighting the severity of the issue and the urgent need for comprehensive measures.

Province	Location/Site Description	Samples	Concentration	Ref.	
riovince	Location/Site Description	<i>(n)</i>	(µg/L)	NUI.	
Aceh	Nagan Raya, river ASGM area	3	< 0.05	(Nisah et al., 2022)	
Aceh	Aceh Jaya, 3 river ASGM area	18	0.09 ± 0.09	(Suhud et al., 2020)	
Jakarta	Jakarta bay, seawater in coastal area	82	13.47 ± 16.06	(Siregar et al., 2016)	
Jakarta	Jakarta bay, seawater in coastal area	6	0.13 ± 0.05	(Riani et al., 2018)	
Central Java	Banyumas, Tajum river ASGM area	7	1003	(Budianta et al., 2019)	
West Java	Bogor, Cikaniki river ASGM area	5	3.46 ± 4.45	(Tomiyasu et al., 2013a)	
West Java	Bogor, Cikini river resident area	2	0.34 ± 0.13	(Yasuda et al., 2011)	
	Bogor, Ciliwung river, resident area	6	< 0.10		
West Java	Depok-Bekasi, e-waste recycling sites	5	0.12 ± 0.11	(Soetrisno et al., 2020)	
South Sulawesi	Parepare, seawater in coastal area	3	5.33 ± 2.08	(Rusman et al., 2020)	
South Sulawesi	Pangkep, cement power plant area	10	0.48 ± 0.70	(Mallongi et al., 2020)	
Southeast Sulawesi	Bombana, drinking water in ASGM area	32	0.33 ± 0.07	(Suramas et al., 2019)	
Gorontalo	Bone Bolango, Bone river ASGM area	11	0.34 ± 0.02	(Gafur et al., 2018)	
Gorontalo	North Gorontalu, Hulawa river ASGM	5	8.26 ± 10.60	(Hiola, 2017)	
Gorontalo	Boalemo, Buladu contaminated river	8	122.25 ± 36.7	(Mallongi et al., 2015)	
	Boalemo, Buladu uncontaminated river	10	21.97 ± 11.14		
Maluku	Buru, drinking water near ASGM area	3	0.50 ± 0.00	(Pridianata et al., 2019)	
Papua	Jayapura, 4 river ASGM area	4	41.25 ± 10.00	(Tanjung et al., 2022)	
Papua	Depapre, seawater in coastal area	5	< 0.80	(Hamuna et al., 2021)	
Papua	Mimika, seawater in coastal area	6	< 0.70	(Tanjung et al., 2019)	
Water standard	Indonesia		1	(IMH, 2017a)	
	WHO		6	(WHO, 2017)	

Table 2.3. Mercury concentration $(\mu g/L)$ in water in Indonesia

Table 2.4. Mercury concentration in sediment (mg/kg) in Ind	onesia
--	--------

Province	Location/Site Description	Samples (n)	Concentration (mg/kg)	Ref.
Aceh	Aceh Jaya, 3 river ASGM area	18	0.001 ± 0.001	(Suhud et al., 2020)
West Java	Bogor, Cikani river ASGM area	8	17.90 ± 29.21	(Tomiyasu et al., 2013a)
Central Java	Banyumas, Tajum river ASGM area	7	9.75	(Budianta et al., 2019)
Gorontalo	Boalemo, Buladu contaminated river	10	5.11 ± 1.43	(Mallongi et al., 2015)
	Boalemo, Buladu river uncontaminated	8	3.32 ± 1.74	
Gorontalo	Bone Bolango, Bone river ASGM area	11	0.08 ± 0.03	(Gafur et al., 2018)

Province	Location/Site Description	Samples (n)	Concentration (mg/kg)	Ref.
Maluku	Buru island, river sediment	2	54.26 ± 39.78	(Reichelt et al., 2017)
	Buru island, coastal sediment	7	22.05 ± 16.46	
Papua	Mimika, sediment in coastal area	6	< 0.001	(Tanjung et al., 2019)
Sediment	Indonesia		0.3	(IMEF, 2021)
standard	Canada		0.2	(CME, 2011)

Similarly, mercury contamination in water and sediment is a significant concern in Indonesia. The results of the analysis of Hg concentration in surface water ($\mu g/L$) and sediment (mg/kg) in Indonesia are reported in Table 2.3 and Table 2.4, respectively. The sources area of water and sediment samples varied across different areas, including ASGM areas, coastal areas, cement power plant areas, e-waste sites, and residential areas. In Central Java, Budianta et al., (2019) recorded the highest Hg concentration, reaching up to 1,003 $\mu g/L$. Similarly, river water in various ASGM areas such as West Java (3.46 $\mu g/L$) (Tomiyasu et al., 2013a), Gorontalo (8.26; 122.25 $\mu g/L$) (Hiola, 2017) (Mallongi et al., 2015), and Papua (41.25 $\mu g/L$) (Tanjung et al., 2022) and coastal area in Jakarta (13.47 $\mu g/L$) (Siregar et al., 2016), as well as South Sulawesi (5.33 $\mu g/L$) (Rusman et al., 2020), have all exceeded the guidelines standard. On the other hand, river water in ASGM areas such as Aceh (<LOD; 0.09 $\mu g/L$) (Nisah et al., 2022) (Suhud et al., 2020), Southeast Sulawesi (0.33 $\mu g/L$) (Suramas et al., 2019), and Maluku (0.50 $\mu g/L$) (Pridianata et al., 2019) exhibited relatively lower concentrations.

ASGM activities are predominantly located near streams and rivers, as water is required for these operations. The higher Hg concentrations in river water from ASGM areas can be attributed to factors such as the direct discharge of untreated wastewater into rivers (Tomiyasu et al., 2013a) (Tanjung et al., 2022), particularly evident in Central Java due to the proximity to ASGM activities and poor sewage systems (Budianta et al., 2019). Studies by Mallongi et al., (2015) and Tanjung et al. (2022) have shown that upstream areas exhibit higher Hg concentrations, likely due to the transportation and accumulation of Hg-containing sediments and contaminants from upstream sources (Hiola, 2017). Siregar et al., (2016) found that high concentrations of mercury in seawater did not originate from industrial wastewater and gold-mining activities but rather from near-shore regions such as municipal incinerator ash used as a substitute for sand in artificial reefs or waste-dumping by shipping vessels. The relatively low Hg concentration in Aceh is attributed to the early stages of ASGM in the region. Similarly, the lower Hg

concentrations in South Sulawesi and Maluku are due to the processes involved in treating drinking water samples, which have the potential to reduce Hg concentrations. It is worth noting that the average mercury concentration in the water exceeded the guideline standard by 76 times, while the national standard is set at 1 μ g/L (IMH, 2017a).

In sediment, Reichelt-Brushett et al., (2017) recorded the highest Hg concentration in the ASGM area in Maluku (54.26 mg/kg), followed by ASGM in West Java (17.9 mg/kg) (Tomiyasu et al., 2013a) and Gorontalo (5.1 mg/kg) (Mallongi et al., 2015). The factors influencing sediment Hg concentrations are similar to those observed in river water, including water treatment and upstream areas. It is worth noting that sediments exhibited higher concentrations compared to water samples from the same study area, highlighting the significance of addressing sedimentary mercury pollution. The average mercury concentration in sediments was 14.06 mg/kg, which is 47 times higher than the Indonesian standard of 0.3 mg/kg (IMEF, 2021).

This study revealed significant contamination of air, soil, water, and sediment with mercury (Hg) in various regions of Indonesia. Elevated concentrations of Hg were observed in water and sediment samples, particularly in areas associated with artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM), coastal regions, cement power plants, and industrial activities. The findings emphasize the urgent need for comprehensive measures and effective mitigation strategies to address mercury pollution in these environmental compartments.

Province	Location/Food Description	Samples (n)	Concentration (mg/kg dw)	Ref.
Banten	Lebak, rice grain (Oryza sativa)	7	0.10 ± 0.08	(Novirsa et al., 2019)
West Java	Cisitu, rice grain (Oryza sativa)	11	0.30 ± 0.33	(Bose et al., 2016b)
West Java	Sukabumi, cassava leaf (Manihot esculenta)	2	4.61 ± 1.51	(Saragih et al., 2021a)
	Sukabumi, cassava root (Manihot esculenta)	2	31.07 ± 17.25	
	Sukabumi, papaya leaf <i>(Carica papaya)</i>	2	1.53 ± 0.89	
	Sukabumi, papaya fruit <i>(Carica papaya)</i>	1	0.10	
	Sukabumi, rice grain (Oryza sativa)	1	0.09	
Central Sulawesi	Palu, maize cropping (Zea mays L)	4	0.23 ± 0.11	(Ramlan et al., 2022)
	Palu, rice grain (Oryza sativa)	4	0.20 ± 0.06	
	Palu, cassava cropping (Manihotesculenta)	4	0.33 ± 0.31	
	Palu, onion cropping (Allium cepa L.)	4	0.20 ± 0.16	
Food other than	Indonesia		0.03	(IFDA, 2022)
fish standard	WHO		0.01	(WHO, 2006a) ⁾

Table 2.5. Mercury concentration in vegetable samples (mg/kg dry weight) in Indonesia

2.3.3 Mercury concentrations in foodstuffs

The analysis of Hg concentration in vegetables (mg/kg dw) in Indonesia is reported in Table 2.5. All vegetable samples in this study were collected from the ASGM area and exhibited concentrations that exceeded the Indonesian guidelines (0.03 mg/kg) (IFDA, 2022). Cassava root demonstrated the highest mercury concentration, averaging 31.07 mg/kg (dw), followed by leaf vegetables with an average concentration of 4.61 mg/kg (dw) (Saragih et al., 2020) (Saragih et al., 2021a). This observation aligns with the findings of Addai-Arhin et al. (2022), who reported that root samples tend to have higher concentrations due to adsorption from the contaminated soil in closer proximity compared to leaf or fruit samples (Addai-Arhin et al., 2022). Ramlan et al. (2022) found a correlation between the accumulation of Hg and the amount of mercury in plant tissues (Ramlan et al., 2022), indicating that adsorption varies for each vegetable species (Rea et al., 2001). The average mercury concentration in vegetables was 3.52 mg/kg (dw), surpassing the Indonesian Food and Drug Administration guidelines by 117 times (0.03 mg/kg) (IFDA, 2022). These findings underscore the potential risk of high mercury exposure through the consumption of certain foodstuffs in Indonesia, particularly for individuals consuming large amounts of cassava root and leaf vegetables in mining areas. Effective measures should be implemented to minimize mercury contamination in vegetables and ensure the safety of food consumption in affected regions.

Province	Location/Food Description	Samples (<i>n</i>)	Concentration (mg/kg ww)	Ref.
Mollusk				
Jakarta	Jakarta Bay, Green mussel (Perna viridis)	10	7.39 ± 1.33	(Riani et al., 2018)
Central Java	Demak Coast, Blood mussel (Anadara granosa)	100	<lod< td=""><td>(Yulianto et al., 2020)</td></lod<>	(Yulianto et al., 2020)
East Java	East Java Coast, Clam (Meretrix lyrata)	36	0.05 ± 0.01	(Soegianto et al., 2021)
East Java	East Java Coast, Blood mussel (Anadara granosa)	48	0.27 ± 0.05	(Soegianto et al., 2020)
Gorontalo	Boalemo,			(Mallongi et al., 2015)
	Shelfish (Bellamnya javanica) contaminated track	120	1.24 ± 0.11	
	Shelfish (Bellamnya javanica) uncontaminated track	150	0.13 ± 0.06	
	Shelfish (Mya arenaria) in contaminated track	120	1.66 ± 0.19	
	Shelfish (Mya arenaria) in uncontaminated track	150	0.19 ± 0.08	
Crustacean				
East Java	East Java Coast, Mud crab (Scylla serrata)	45	0.011 ± 0.0002	(Soegianto et al., 2022)
East Java	East Java Coast, blue swimming crab (P. Pelagicus)	45	0.004 ± 0.0002	(Soegianto et al., 2022)
Fish				
Banten	Banten bay, greenback mullets (Planiliza subviridis)	5	<lod< td=""><td>(Afiyatillah et al., 2022)</td></lod<>	(Afiyatillah et al., 2022)

Table 2.6. Mercury concentration in aquatic food (mg/kg wet weight) in Indonesia

Province	Location/Food Description		Concentration (mg/kg ww)	Ref.
Banten	Binuangen, Torpedo scad (Megalaspis cordyla)	30	0.06 ± 0.01	(Suratno et al., 2021)
	Binuangen, Indian scad (Decapterus russelli)	15	0.24 ± 0.10	
Jakarta	Muara Angke, 10 fish species in estuary	10	0.11 ± 0.12	(Rahayu et al., 2014)
Jakarta-Bali	Fish processing plants,			(Handayani et al., 2019)
	Yellowfin tuna (Thunnus albacares)	167	0.27 ± 0.11	
	Bigeye tuna (Thunnus obesus)	126	0.22 ± 0.08	
	Oilfish (Ruvettus pretiosus)	150	0.41 ± 0.06	
	Swordfish (Xiphias gladius)	150	0.87 ± 0.14	
	Marlin (Macaira indica)	165	0.85 ± 0.08	
West Java	Cisitu, freshwater fishponds near ASGM	6	0.91 ± 1.12	(Bose et al., 2016b)
West Java	Saguling reservoir, residents, and tourism area	12	0.03 ± 0.02	(Marselina et al., 2020)
East Java	East Java Coast, ponyfish (Leiognathus equulus)	75	<lod< td=""><td>(Chudaifah et al., 2014)</td></lod<>	(Chudaifah et al., 2014)
East java	East Java Coast, Halfbeaks (Hyporhampus affinis)	75	0.05 ± 0.02	(Asmysari et al., 2013)
Central Kalimantan	Galangan, 25 species of fish near ASGM	263	0.20 ± 0.36	(Castilhos et al., 2006a)
North Sulawesi	Tatelu, 11 species of fish near ASGM	131 0.58 ± 0.45		(Castilhos et al., 2006a)
North Sulawesi	Buyat Bay, 91 fish species, metal mining tailings	$327 0.17 \pm 0.21$		(Shepherd et al., 2018)
Gorontalo	Limboto lake, Nila fish (Oreochromis niloticus)	6	0.06 ± 0.03	(Nakoe et al., 2014)
Aquatic food	WHO, Indonesia		0.50	(IFDA, 2022)
standard	WHO, Indonesia (predator fish)		1.00	

The analysis of Hg concentration in aquatic food (mg/kg wet weight) in Indonesia is reported in Table 2.6. Mollusks exhibited the highest mercury concentration, averaging 1.56 mg/kg (ww), followed by fish (0.27 mg/kg ww) and crustaceans (0.01 mg/kg ww). In Jakarta Bay, mollusks showed the highest Hg concentration with values of 7.39 mg/kg (ww) (Riani et al., 2018), while mollusks at the ASGM area in Gorontalo recorded values of 1.66 and 1.24 mg/kg (ww) (Mallongi et al., 2015). The pollution in Jakarta Bay is attributed to hazardous and toxic waste from Jakarta Province, intensified by various activities such as residential and industrial operations, transportation, seaports, hospitals, fishing, commerce, and services (Riani et al., 2018). In Gorontalo, the accumulation of mercury in shellfish showed a linear relationship with Hg concentration in water and a significant correlation with Hg concentrations in sediment (Mallongi et al., 2015). On the other hand, mollusks and crustacean collected in Central Java (Yulianto et al., 2020), and East Java(Soegianto et al., 2020, 2021; Soegianto, Nurfiyanti, et al., 2022; Soegianto, Wahyuni, et al., 2022) likely due to sampling from areas without mining or industrial influence.

On average, fish in this study displayed relatively low Hg concentrations, with an average of 0.27 mg/kg ww. However, high Hg concentrations were found in fish collected from the ASGM area, such as West Java (0.13-1.3 mg/kg ww) (Bose-O'Reilly et al.,

2016b), Central Kalimantan (0.05-1.24 mg/kg ww)(Castilhos et al., 2006a) and North Sulawesi (0.04-0.68 mg/kg ww) (Castilhos et al., 2006a). Hg concentrations were found to be higher downstream and in close proximity to gold mining regions. Despite the relatively small size of the fish, fish from water basins contained the maximum levels of mercury (Castilhos et al., 2006a). In contrast, freshwater fish from residential areas in West Java (0.03 mg/kg ww) (Marselina & Suhada, 2020) and Gorontalo (0.06 mg/kg ww) (Nakoe et al., 2014) exhibited lower concentrations. The highest concentration among sea fish was observed by Handayani et al. (2019) for tuna and tuna-like species from the Southern Indian Ocean (Indonesia), where tuna fish ranged from 0.05-0.65 mg/kg ww (Handayani et al., 2019), while tuna-like ranged from 0.01 to 1.91 mg/kg ww (Handayani et al., 2019) exceeding the predator fish standard of 1 mg/kg (IFDA, 2022). Although the mercury levels in these species are relatively lower compared to swordfish and marlin, the higher weight of the fish contributes to higher mercury levels (Handayani et al., 2019). On the other hand, fish from the sea in Banten showed relatively low concentrations (<LOD; 0.06 mg/kg ww) (Afiyatillah et al., 2022) (Suratno et al., 2021), as did fish from Jakarta (0.24 mg/kg ww) (Rahayu et al., 2014), and East Java (<LOD. 0.05 mg/kg ww) (Chudaifah et al., 2014)(Asmysari et al., 2013).

Province	Location/Sample Description	Samples (n)	Concentration (mg/kg)	Ref.	
Banten	Lebak, resident near ASGM area	41	3.20 ± 1.97	(Novirsa et al., 2020a)	
Banten	Sukabumi, males in ASGM area	48	3.27 ± 2.89	(Harianja et al., 2020a)	
	Sukabumi, females in ASGM area	33	5.91 ± 4.69		
	Sukabumi, children in ASGM area	4	5.34 ± 0.00		
West Java	Depok, landfill area	85	0.56 ± 0.43	(Hardiyanti et al., 2020)	
West Java	Depok-Bekasi, children in e-waste sites	22	8.00 ± 4.2	(Soetrisno et al., 2020)	
	Depok-Bekasi, children control area	22	2.00 ± 1.10		
Yogyakarta	Kulon Progo, maternal in ASGM area	16	0.79 ± 2.02	(Ernawati et al., 2021)	
	Kulon Progo, maternal postpartum in ASGM	16	10.59 ± 33.38		
	Kulon Progo, infants in ASGM area	16	129.90 ± 0.98		
	Kulon Progo, maternal II in ASGM area	16	0.19 ± 0.15		
	Kulon Progo, infants II in ASGM area	16	17.33 ± 0.20		
West Nusa Tenggara	West Lombok, miner in ASGM area	100	2.60 ± 1.70	(Ekawanti et al., 2015)	
West Nusa Tenggara	West Sumbawa, direct-exposed miner	90	13.00	(Krisnayanti et al., 2016)	
	West Sumbawa, indirect-exposed miner	30	1.30		
	West Sumbawa, non-exposed miner	30	0.56		
South Sulawesi	Makassar, direct exposed miner in ASGM	52	10.80 ± 9.50	(Abbas et al., 2017)	
	Makassar, indirect exposed miner in ASGM	43	6.50 ± 3.50		
	Makassar, control group	80	2.80 ± 1.90		

Table 2.7. Mercury	<i>concentration</i>	ı in hum	an hair	(mg/kg)	in Indonesia
14010 2010 10101041	concentration		an nan	(1116/116/	in maonesia

Province	Location/Sample Description	Samples (n)	Concentration (mg/kg)	Ref.
Southeast Sulawesi	Bombana, direct exposed miner in ASGM	45	15.71 ± 13.49	(Sakakibara et al., 2017)
	Bombana, indirect exposed miner in ASGM	25	9.25 ± 5.65	
	Bombana, control area	11	5.70 ± 2.28	
Gorontalo	North Gorontalo, resident near ASGM area	95	7.10 ± 2.00	(Arifin et al., 2015)
Human hair	US EPA		1	(USEPA, 1997)
standard	WHO		1	(WHO, 2008)

2.3.4 Mercury concentrations in human hair

The concentrations of Hg in human hair (mg/kg) in Indonesia are presented in Table 2.7. The majority of studies were conducted in ASGM areas, with 90% of the studies showing concentrations above the World Health Organization (WHO) standard of 1 mg/kg (WHO, 2008). The highest Hg concentration of 129 mg/kg was reported in hair samples from infants residing in mining areas in Yogyakarta (Ernawati et al., 2021). Mercury accumulates in both mothers and neonates, with prenatal exposure through the placenta and postnatal exposure through breast milk. Thus, infants may be at risk of mercury exposure through maternal transfer. Miners showed the highest Hg concentrations, with an average concentration of 15.71 mg/kg in Southeast Sulawesi (Sakakibara & Sera, 2017), followed by West Nusa Tenggara (13.00 mg/kg) (Krisnayanti et al., 2016), and South Sulawesi (10.80 mg/kg) (Abbas et al., 2017). Residents living near the ASGM area in Gorontalo (7.10 mg/kg) (Arifin et al., 2015), and Banten (3.20 mg/kg) (Novirsa et al., 2020a), as well as those near e-waste sites in West Java (8.00 mg/kg) (Soetrisno & Delgado-Saborit, 2020), also showed elevated concentrations exceeding the standard. Direct exposure to mercury during mining activities was associated with higher mercury concentrations in hair. The duration of time spent in proximity to gold mining was found to be positively correlated with Hg accumulation in hair, as observed by Sakakibara et al., 2017; Ernawati et al., 2021. Furthermore, a correlation was found between hair mercury levels and the consumption of substances containing mercury, as observed by Arifin et al. (2015). Localization effects were also observed, where groups consumed mercury from the same contaminated source, such as food and fish from the same area. In contrast, hair samples from a landfill area displayed the lowest concentration of 0.56 mg/kg (Hardiyanti et al., 2020). The analysis of human hair samples in Indonesia revealed an average mercury concentration of 11.41 mg/kg, exceeding guidelines by 11 times. Targeted interventions are urgently needed to mitigate mercury exposure, particularly in ASGM areas. Addressing maternal-fetal transfer of mercury is crucial in combating mercury contamination and protecting the health of vulnerable populations.

Samples	Total study	Standard guideline	Ref.	Exceeded standard	% of exceeded the standard
Air	3	$1 \ \mu g/m^3$	(WHO, 2000)	2	67%
Soil	9	0.3 mg/kg	(IMEF, 2021)	6	67%
Water	18	1 µg/L	(IMH, 2017a)	7	39%
Sediment	7	0.3 mg/kg	(IMEF, 2021)	4	57%
Vegetable	4	0.03 mg/kg	(IFDA, 2022)	4	100%
Aquatic food	19	0.5 mg/kg	(IFDA, 2022)	4	21%
Human hair	10	1 mg/kg	(USEPA, 1997)	9	90%

Table 2.8. Percentage of the studies exceeding the standard

The identification of the most polluted samples was accomplished through the utilization of a frequency table, as presented in Table 2.8. The results of the study indicate that vegetables exhibited the highest degree of contamination, with all studies above the Hg guidelines. This was followed by human hair, where 90% of the samples were found to be contaminated, and air and soil, where 67% of the samples were found to be contaminated. The results of the study indicate that the aquatic food sample obtained from Indonesia exhibited the lowest level of contamination. The researchers discovered a significant correlation between the concentration of Hg in soil and that in vegetables or foodstuffs (Li et al., 2017; Yu et al., 2018), as well as a connection between sediment and aquatic food (Leady & Gottgens, 2001), even though the ability of different species to accumulate Hg varies.

2.3.5 Study limitations

The study acknowledges several limitations that should be considered. A scarcity of available data on mercury concentrations in different regions of Indonesia may have restricted the comprehensiveness of the review. The included studies exhibited heterogeneity in methodologies, sample sizes, and geographic locations, which may have introduced variability and hindered generalizability. The exclusion of non-English and non-Indonesian language publications may have resulted in the omission of valuable sources. Additionally, the focus on online accessibility may have excluded relevant papers not available electronically. Despite these limitations, the study provides a comprehensive overview of mercury pollution in Indonesia, offering valuable insights into the extent and implications of this issue.

2.4 Conclusion

The findings of this study highlight the widespread presence of mercury contamination in multiple environmental media and food sources in Indonesia. The exceeding of national and international guidelines highlights the urgent need for comprehensive and targeted interventions to reduce mercury exposure and protect public health. Particularly, the areas of artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) were identified as mercury contamination regions, with elevated levels observed in proximity to mining activities. Vegetables and mollusk in the ASGM area are not suitable for consumption. The accumulation of mercury in environmental media and food sources poses significant risks to human health, especially for populations living in or in proximity to ASGM areas.

Future research should focus on long-term monitoring and trend analysis to track mercury levels, evaluation of health impacts on vulnerable populations, exploration of remediation techniques, and strategies, effective risk communication, and regulatory improvements. A collaborative effort is required to reduce the risk of exposure to mercury and to protect the health and well-being of the population and the environment in Indonesia.

CHAPTER III

Spatial Distribution and Human Health Risks of Mercury in the Gold Mining Area of Mandailing Natal District, Indonesia

3.1 Introduction

Mercury is highly toxic to human health and is one of the top 10 chemicals of major public health concerns (WHO, 2021b). Most of the Hg in the environment results from human activity, including coal-fired power plants (UNEP, 2013b). Artisanal and smallscale gold mining (ASGM) is the single largest source (37%) of airborne global anthropogenic Hg emissions (Gibb & O'Leary, 2014; UNEP, 2013c; WHO, 2021b). Hg is used in gold mining to extract gold from ore by forming amalgam in ASGM, and estimated Hg emissions from ASGM doubled between 2005 and 2010 (UNEP, 2013b).

Indonesia has more than 1200 ASGM hotspots (BaliFokus, 2018). The ASGM sector accounts for about 69.7% of the total national Hg released into the environment (about 244 tonnes) in Indonesia (BaliFokus, 2018). Hg concentrations in air, river water, soil and fish around ASGM sites have been investigated in several areas; including Central Kalimantan (Elvince et al., 2008), Gorontalo (Mallongi et al., 2014), North Sulawesi (Limbong et al., 2003), Java (IQBAL Rofig & INOUE Takanobu, 2011) and West Java (Harianja et al., 2020b; Yustiawati et al., 2006) in Indonesia. Hg pollution has been investigated in detail in West Java and high Hg concentrations in river water, soil and air near ASGM sites have been reported (Kono et al., 2012; Kono & Tomiyasu, 2013; Tomiyasu et al., 2019; Tomiyasu, Kono, Kodamatani, Hidayati, et al., 2013b; Yasuda, Yustiawati, Suhaemi Syawal, et al., 2011; Yustiawati et al., 2006). The health risks to miners and residents, including children, have also been reported (Castilhos et al., 2006; Bose-O'Reilly et al., 2008, 2010, 2016; Gibb and O'Leary, 2014; Nakazawa et al., 2016). Mandailing Natal, North Sumatra, Indonesia is a region with abundant gold-containing geological resources. Since 2005, gold rock exploration has been conducted in the rugged region of Mount Hutabargot using conventional, primitive technology (Agrawal & Susilorini, 2020). However, more than a decade has passed since ASGM began in Mandailing Natal, yet information on Hg contamination is still scarce.

Several studies have suggested that rice has been identified as a possible source of methylmercury (MeHg) exposure from food (Feng et al., 2008; Novirsa, Quang, et al., 2019). Globally, Indonesia ranks as the third largest consumer of rice (OECD/FAO, 2021a), and each year, rice consumption amounts to roughly 37.7 million tonnes, most of which is produced domestically (OECD/FAO, 2021b). Indonesia's per capita rice consumption per year is higher than that of China (76.5 kg/year) and India (69.9 kg/year),

at about 126 kg/year (OECD/FAO, 2021b). In addition, Addai-Arhin et al. suggested that vegetables, such as cassava, cultivated around ASGM sites are potential source of Hg (Addai-Arhin et al., 2022), but little is known about Hg concentration in vegetables in Indonesia. Thus, investigating Hg concentration in rice and vegetables is necessary to evaluate the health risk to residents around ASGM sites.

In the present study, the Hg contamination in rice, vegetables, soil and water was investigated near two gold mining areas in Mandailing Natal, North Sumatra; the Hg intake of local residents was estimated, and potential health risks associated with Hg exposure were discussed.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Study area and sampling sites

The study area is in Mandailing Natal District, North Sumatra Province, Indonesia (Fig. 3.1). Nauli and Simalagi villages, which are affected by Hg pollution from gold mining and processing activities, were selected. ASGM has been active in this location since 2005 and is becoming one of the most promising sources of income in addition to farming for most local people. The total populations of Nauli and Simalagi villages were 1599 and 460, respectively (BPS, 2021).

Agricultural soil (n = 32), rice (n = 20), vegetables namely cassava (*Manihot esculenta*) leaves, katuk sweet (*Sauropus androgynus*) leaves, papaya (*Carica papaya*) flower, bilimbi (*Averrhoa bilimbi*) fruit, water spinach (*Ipomoea aquatica*) and susumber (*Solanum torvum*) (n = 12), drinking water (n = 16) and groundwater (n = 16) were collected in late October 2021 in the rainy season from the villages (Fig. 3.1). Soil samples were collected from the same site as the rice and vegetable samples. The communities consume drinking water from groundwater, so we collected reference samples of drinking water and groundwater from the same source. We also collected reference samples of rice (n = 3), vegetables consisting of green onion (*Allium cepa*), cabbage (*Brassica oleracea*) and baby spinach (*Spinacia oleracea*) (n = 3), drinking water (n = 3) and groundwater (n = 3) from non-contaminated areas with no industry and mining activities 10 km from the sampling area to compare with the results from the study area and we assumed that the Hg level is negligible.



Figure 3.1. Map of sampling sites

3.2.2 Sample preparation and pre-treatment

Rice and vegetable samples (about 200 g) were packed in zipped plastic bags, washed with distilled water and oven dried at 40°C (DX601, Yamato Scientific co., ltd., Tokyo, Japan) until the weight was stable. Soil samples (about 500 g) were taken from the surface to a depth of 10 cm with a plastic scoop and then placed in zipped plastic bags. Roots, rocks, wood and extraneous matter were removed and the samples were oven dried at 40°C for until the weight was stable. The dried rice samples were hulled to separate the husks and grains before the grains were ground with a porcelain mortar and pestle and sifted through a 150 μ m sieve. The samples were homogenised. The water samples (around 100 mL) were placed in polyethylene bottles. Clean handling of all samples was performed to prevent cross-contamination. All the samples were stored at 4°C and kept in light-dark conditions until the analysis.

3.3.3 Analytical methods

Total mercury concentration in every sample was determined with a mercury analyser (MA-3000, Nippon Instrument Corporation, Tokyo, Japan). Hg concentration in rice, vegetables and soil wes determined by thermal decomposition using method number 7473 published by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). Hg in samples was analysed without chemical pre-treatment. Three sample boats were used to weigh three aliquots (50 mg) from each sample to obtain triplicate data.

Hg concentration in water was determined by reduction vaporization using method number 245.1 published by the USEPA. The unfiltered water samples (100 mL) were poured into Teflon bottles and 0.5 N sulfuric acid (5 mL) and nitric acid (2.5 mL) were added. Then, 5% potassium permanganate (15 mL) was added, and the mixture was left for 10 min to ensure that it remained purple, before 5% potassium persulfate (8 mL) was added. The samples were heated in a water bath at 95°C for a period of 2 hours with the bottle lids tightened so that the samples would not leak. After cooling the samples to a room temperature, a solution of sodium chloride and hydroxylammonium chloride (6 mL) was added to the samples for immediate analysis. The analysis was conducted using a total of 5 mL of the treated water sample for each measurement. All of the chemical reagents, with the exception of tin (II) chloride, were of analytical grade and procured from FUJIFILM Wako Pure Chemical Corporation. Tin (II) chloride was purchased from Kanto Chemical co. (Tokyo, Japan).

3.3.4 Quality assurance and quality control

Each instrumental analysis was performed on three replicates, and a blank analysis was performed for every three samples. Three certified reference materials (CRM) were used to determine the accuracy of the results for rice, vegetables and soil. The CRMs used were 7302-a from the National Metrology Institute of Japan for trace elements in marine sediment, European Reference Material ERM-CC580 for estuarine sediment and 7402-a for trace elements in cod fish tissue with the value obtained was 0.51 ± 0.02 mg/kg, 132.4 \pm 6.06 mg/kg and 0.61 \pm 0.01 mg/kg respectively (n = 3, recovery rates of 94%–102%, 96%–105% and 99%–101% respectively). The recovery analysis for Hg in water involved the addition of a known amount of Hg to both blank and sample water to evaluate the accuracy of the analysis. The coefficient of variation was 3.3%.

3.3.5 Risk assessment methodology

To conduct this research, several assumptions were made. It was assumed that body weight refers to the guidelines for environmental health risk analysis by the Indonesian Ministry of Health of 55 kg for adults and 15 kg for children. Adults are defined as being older than 19 years, and children as being 6 to 12 years old. We also assumed that local people consume food and drink from the area where they live. Data on the consumption
of vegetables, rice and drinking water were taken from a similar study in Indonesia, namely the risk assessment of the population in Bogor (Rahman et al., 2019), and the parameters are listed in Table 3.1.

Hg can enter the human body by the following pathways: oral ingestion of food (e.g. fish, meat, rice, vegetables and other agricultural products), drinking water and soil particles; skin contact with water and soil particles; and inhalation of soil particles, gaseous elemental Hg and particulate Hg. This study did not measure airborne Hg; thus, it was not included.

Parameters	Unit	Adult	Child	Reference
Hg concentration, C	μg/kg dw; μg/L	_	_	This study
Ingestion rate of rice, <i>IR</i> rice	kg ww/day	0.4	0.2	(Rahman et al., 2019)
Ingestion rate of vegetables, <i>IR</i> _{veg}	kg ww/day	0.029	0.014	(Rahman et al., 2019)
Ingestion rate of water, <i>IR</i> _{dw}	L/day	1	0.5	(Rahman et al., 2019)
Ingestion rate of soil, IR _{soil}	mg/day	100	200	(US EPA, 2011)
Rice dw to ww conversion factor, WCF	kg ww/kg dw	0.91	0.91	(Staven et al., 2003)
Vegetable dw to ww conversion factor, WC	F kg ww/kg dw	0.23	0.23	(Staven et al., 2003)
Exposure frequency, EF	day/year	350	350	(IMH, 2012; US EPA, 2011)
Exposure duration, ED	Years	30	6	(IMH, 2012; US EPA, 2011)
Body weight, BW	kg	55	15	(IMH, 2012)
Averaging time, AT	days	10,950	2190	(IMH, 2012; US EPA, 2011)
Skin surface, SA	cm ²	5700	2800	(US EPA, 2011)
Skin adherence factor, AF	mg/cm ² /day	0.07	0.2	(US EPA, 2011)
Dermal absorption factor, ABS	_	0.1	0.1	(DEA, 2010b)
Conversion factor, CF	kg/mg	10-6	10-6	(US EPA, 2011)
Inhalation rate, <i>IR</i> _{inh}	m ³ /day	20	12	(IMH, 2012)
Particulate emission factor, PEF	m ³ /kg	1.36×10^9	1.36×10^9	(US EPA, 2011)
Oral reference dose, <i>RfD</i> _{Oral}	µg/kg/day	0.3	0.3	(DEA, 2010b; US EPA, 2011)
Dermal reference dose, <i>RfD</i> _{Dermal}	µg/kg/day	0.3	0.3	(DEA, 2010b; US EPA, 2011)
Inhalation reference dose, RfD _{Inhalation}	µg/kg/day	0.0857	0.0857	(DEA, 2010b; US EPA, 2011)

 Table 3.1. Parameters used to estimate average daily intake (ADI)

To estimate the potential Hg exposure of the local population through consumption from several exposure sources, the following calculation was used. Average daily intake (ADI) by oral ingestion, dermal and inhalation exposure was estimated using equations 1–3 provided by the US EPA (US EPA, 1989, 2011; Yeganeh et al., 2013). The estimation of ADI-Inhalation in this study is solely based on the Hg content in the soil and does not incorporate measurements of atmospheric Hg levels.

$$ADI - Ingestion = \frac{C \times IR \times EF \times ED}{BW \times AT} \times WCF - (1)$$

$$ADI - Dermal = \frac{C \times SA \times AF \times ABS \times EF \times ED}{BW \times AT} \times CF - (2)$$

$$ADI - Inhalation = \frac{C \times IR - inh \times EF \times ED}{BW \times AT \times PEF} - (3)$$

Here, ADI is the average daily intake exposure dose via the subscript pathway; C is the pollutant concentration in environmental media (μ g/kg or μ g/L); IR is the daily intake rate (kg/d); EF is exposure frequency (day/year); ED is exposure duration (years); BW is body weight (kg); AT is the exposure time (ED × 365) (days); SA is body surface area (cm²); AF is skin adherence factor (mg/cm²/day); ABS is dermal absorption factor (unitless); CF is conversion factor (kg/mg); and PEF is the particle emission factor (m³/kg). Detailed information on these parameters is listed in Table 3.1.

Assessments for non-cancer risks were estimated by dividing the estimated daily intake by the reference dose (RfD), following USEPA guidelines.

$$HQ = \frac{ADI}{RfD} - (4)$$

where HQ is the hazard quotient (HQ). An HQ value of less than 1 indicates that there is no potential risk of adverse health effects from exposure to Hg over a lifetime. However, if the frequency and severity of exposure exceed the RfD, the probability of side effects also increases.

3.3.6 Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS 26.0 software (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA) and R version 3.6.3 (R Core Team, 2022, Vienna, Austria). The difference of log Hg concentrations between two groups was tested with Student's *t*-test. The significance of the correlation coefficients (r) was confirmed by the test for non-correlation between two variables. The difference of slopes between two regressions was tested by an analysis of covariance (ANCOVA). Differences were declared as significant when p < 0.05. The bootstrap method was used to assess the uncertainty of the sample estimates (Kulesa et al., 2015). The non-parametric bootstrap method was applied to the log Hg concentration in each medium. The bootstrap was repeated 10,000 times.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Hg concentration in rice and vegetable samples

The Hg concentrations in the samples are shown in Table 3.2. The Hg concentrations in the rice samples ranged from 26 to 180 µg/kg dw with an average standard deviation (SD) of 50 ± 33 µg/kg dw (n = 20). These Hg concentrations were much higher than those in the rice samples collected from the reference sites in Indonesia (8.3 ± 2.0 µg/kg dw, n= 3) and in the rice samples bought in markets around the world (1.1-5.3 µg/kg dw) (Wang et al., 2020). However, the Hg concentration in this study area was lower than that in the rice samples collected from other gold mining areas in Cisitu, Gorontalo, Lebaksitu and Sukabumi, Indonesia (mean 90–560 µg/kg dw) (Bose-O'Reilly et al., 2016a; Mallongi et al., 2014; Novirsa et al., 2019; Saragih et al., 2021b) and Camarines Norte, Philippines (600 µg/kg dw) (Murao et al., 2019). Variations in the Hg concentrations among the study areas may result from the scale and years of operation of each ASGM, and the distance from the hotspot (Novirsa et al., 2019).

e		, U			1	
	All study area		Nauli Village		Simalagi Village	
	$Mean \pm SD$	n	$Mean \pm SD$	n	$Mean \pm SD$	п
Rice, Oryza sativa (µg/kg dw)	50 ± 33	20	54 ± 43	10	47 ± 18	10
Paddy soil (µg/kg dw)	$5,600 \pm 12,000$	20	$9,000 \pm 16,000$	10	$2,200 \pm 1,800$	10
Vegetables (µg/kg dw)	$2,100 \pm 2,500$	12	$4,500 \pm 2,800$	4	870 ± 920	8
Cassava (Manihot esculenta)	$2,\!000 \pm 1,\!600$	6	$\textbf{3,000} \pm \textbf{1,100}$	3	880 ± 740	3
Katuk sweet (Sauropus androgynus)	4,800	2	9,000	1	590	1
Papaya (Carica papaya)	2,800	1	_	_	2800	1
Bilimbi (Averrhoa bilimbi)	220	1	_	_	220	1
Water spinach (Ipomoea aquatica)	550	1	_	_	550	1
Susumber (Solanum torvum)	100	1	_	_	100	1
Farm soil (µg/kg dw)	$19,000 \pm 33,000$	12	$55,000 \pm 35,000$	4	$1,\!400 \pm 1,\!200$	8
Drinking water (µg/L)	0.59 ± 0.09	16	0.67 ± 0.06	5	0.55 ± 0.08	11
Groundwater (µg/L)	0.62 ± 0.18	16	0.71 ± 0.27	5	0.58 ± 0.09	11
Reference sites						
Rice, Oryza sativa (µg/kg dw)	8.3 ± 2.0	3				
Vegetables (µg/kg dw)	82 ± 23	3				
Drinking water (µg/L)	0.040 ± 0.0058	3				
Groundwater (µg/L)	0.060 ± 0.0058	3				

Table 3.2. Hg concentrations in rice, vegetable, soil, and water samples

The Hg concentrations in the vegetable samples ranged from 100 to 9000 µg/kg dw with an average SD of 2,100 \pm 2,500 µg/kg dw (n = 12). The average Hg concentration in the study area was about 25 times higher than that in the vegetable samples collected from the reference sites in Indonesia ($82 \pm 23 \mu g/kg$ dw for green onion, cabbage and baby spinach, n = 3). In contrast, the Hg concentrations in vegetables in this study area were equivalent to those in vegetables, such as cassava leaf, papaya leaf and neem leaves collected in gold mining areas in Sukabumi and Bombana, Indonesia ($1,780-9,900 \mu g/kg$ dw) (Basri et al., 2020b; Saragih et al., 2021b), and were higher in concentration than that in the cassava's edible part ($115-3,331 \mu g/kg dw$) and peel ($370-991 \mu g/kg dw$) collected near an ASGM site in Ghana (Addai-Arhin et al., 2022).

The Hg concentration in the vegetables was highest in katuk sweet leaf (mean 4,800 μ g/kg dw, n = 2), followed by *Carica papaya* flower (2,800 μ g/kg dw, n = 1) and cassava leaves (mean 2,000 μ g/kg dw, n = 6). The mean Hg concentration in the vegetables was about 40 times higher than that in the rice. The difference in Hg concentration between the vegetables and rice samples can be attributed to the variation in plant parts analysed. While no parts were removed from the vegetable samples, the husks were excluded from the rice samples. Removing the husks could result in a lower Hg concentration since the grains generally have lower Hg levels compared to the roots and husks (Enamorado-Montes et al., 2021).

3.3.2 Hg concentration in soil samples

The Hg concentrations in the paddy soil ranged from 260 to 58,000 μ g/kg dw with an average SD of 5,600 \pm 12,000 μ g/kg dw (n = 20) (Table 3.2). In contrast, the Hg concentrations in the farm soil ranged from 180 to 100,000 μ g/kg dw with an average SD of 19,000 \pm 33,000 μ g/kg dw (n = 12). The mean Hg concentration in the farm soil was about 3.4 times higher than that in the paddy soil due to shorter distances to the burning sites, for Hg farm soil (average length of 390 metres) and paddy soil (average length of 430 metres), emphasising the importance of spatial factors in Hg contamination. The Hg concentrations in the paddy field soil were similar to those found in previous studies. For example, research conducted in ASGM areas of Buladu, Gorontalo, Indonesia, showed that the Hg concentrations in the paddy field soil ranged from 484 to 4,244 μ g/kg (Mallongi et al., 2014). Several studies (Krisnayanti et al., 2012; Tomiyasu, Kono, Kodamatani, Hidayati, et al., 2013b) have reported significantly elevated levels of Hg in ASGM areas in Indonesia, with the highest concentrations observed in samples collected near mining operations.

3.3.3 Hg concentration in water samples

The Hg concentrations in the drinking water ranged from 0.45 to 0.75 μ g/L with an average SD of 0.59 \pm 0.090 μ g/L (n = 16) (Table 3.2). The average concentration of Hg in drinking water analysed in this study was comparable to that collected from a gold mining area in Pakistan (0.91 μ g/L) (Riaz et al., 2019) and other areas (sampling site unknown) in Iran (0.31 μ g/L) (Yeganeh et al., 2013) and Nepal (0.5 μ g/L) (Sarkar et al., 2022). These Hg concentrations around gold mining areas have higher order of magnitude than that collected from the reference site in Indonesia (0.050 \pm 0.0082 μ g/L).

The Hg concentrations in the groundwater ranged from 0.45 to 1.3 μ g/L with an average and SD of 0.62 ± 0.18 μ g/L (n = 16). No difference in Hg concentration between the groundwater and the drinking water was observed (*p* = 0.59).

3.3.4 Relationship of Hg concentration between food and soil samples

The relationship of log Hg concentration between the food (rice and vegetables) and soil samples is shown in Fig. 3.2. The log Hg concentration in the food was significantly correlated with that in the soil (p < 0.05), indicating that the Hg concentration in the food reflected that in the soil. Furthermore, the slope in the regression equation between the vegetables and the farm soil differed significantly from the slope between the rice and the paddy soil (ANCOVA, p < 0.05) (Fig. 3.2). The larger slope for the vegetables suggests that the vegetables may absorb more Hg than the grain rice from the soil and that they may have received some of the load from atmospheric deposition.



Figure 3.2. Relationship of log Hg concentration between the food and soil samples.

The wider 95% confidence interval in the regression equation for the vegetables than for the rice may be explained by the variation of the Hg concentration in the vegetables. The mean ratio of the Hg concentration between the rice and soil was about 0.0090, but that for the vegetables varied from 0.06 (cassava leaves, n = 6) to 2.4 (*Carica papaya* flower, n = 1) depending on species (Fig. S2). This variation may be caused by differences in the part analysed (leaf, flower and fruit), species-specific physiological factors, such as the absorption mechanism, and the cultivation environment, such as the distance from the burning site. The ability of plants to accumulate Hg in their tissues differs between species. Hg can be accumulated by plant roots through the process of transpiration or dry deposition, which occurs through foliar absorption mediated by stomata (Rea et al., 2001). For the rice samples, the soil Hg pool was confirmed to be the primary source of inorganic Hg in the roots and a unique bioaccumulation pathway of MeHg for rice plant tissues was identified (B. Meng et al., 2010, 2011; M. Meng et al., 2014).

3.3.5 Spatial distribution of Hg concentration in the study area

The Hg concentrations in the soil, vegetable and drinking water samples collected in Nauli village were statistically higher than those in Simalagi village (Table 3.2 and Fig. 3.3). The higher Hg concentration in Nauli village probably resulted from the facilities and activities relating to ASGM (Fig. 3.1). Nauli village has a burning facility, many ball mills and more frequent activities than Simalagi village.



Figure 3.3. Comparison of log Hg concentration in the samples between the villages. The t-test was performed on the log concentrations. ***, **, * and NS in the figure indicate p < 0.001, p < 0.01, p < 0.05, and not significant, respectively.</p>

The relationship between the Hg concentration and the distance from the burning facility to the sampling site was examined (Fig. 3.4). The log Hg concentrations in samples other than groundwater decreased significantly with increasing distance from the burning facility to the sampling site (p < 0.05). This result suggested that the Hg concentrations in the samples were mainly explained by the distance from the burning facility to the sampling site. The slopes and intercepts in the regression equations were similar between the farm and paddy soil samples (Fig. 3.4 (a)). Furthermore, although the mean Hg concentration differed between the farm and paddy soil samples, the farm soil corresponded well with the paddy soil at 300 to 600 m from the burning facility. The Hg concentration in the soil around the burning facility was estimated to be on the order of about $10^5 \mu g/kg$ dw from the intercept of the regression equation in Fig. 3.4 (a).

The Hg concentration on the rice and vegetables also decreased with increasing distance from the burning facility to the sampling site (Fig. 3.4 (b)). These food samples were affected by the Hg concentrations in the soil and the potential for atmospheric deposition of Hg, as described in Section 3.4.4. The Hg concentration in the drinking water decreased significantly with increasing distance from the burning facility to the sampling site, but that in the groundwater did not (Fig. 3.4 (c)).



Figure 3.4. Relationship between the log Hg concentration in the samples and the distance from the burning facility to the sampling site. The site of the burning facility is 0 m on the x-axis.

3.3.6 Evaluation of Hg contamination in the study area

To obtain a more precise assessment, the non-parametric bootstrap method was applied to the log Hg concentration in the food, soil and water samples (Fig. S1 and Table S1). The proportion of samples exceeding the safe value proposed by Indonesia Food and Drugs Administration (30 μ g/kg) (BPOM, 2017) was estimated to be 82% for rice. The proportion exceeding the standard value given by the FAO/WHO (100 μ g/kg) (WHO, 2006b) was estimated to be 96% for vegetables. The Indonesian Ministry of Environment and Forestry has set a permissible tolerable value of 300 μ g/kg for agricultural soil (Minister of Environment and Forestry, 2021) while the Council of the European Communities standard for agriculture soil is 1000 μ g/kg (Council of the European Communities, 1986). The proportions of paddy soil and farm soil samples exceeding the Indonesian values were estimated to be 97% and 89%, respectively. Thus, almost all the food and soil samples in this area exceeded the safe value or the permissible tolerable value and these results indicate that severe Hg contamination is occurring in the target area. The Indonesian standard is 1 μ g/L for drinking water (IMH, 2017b), and the proportions exceeding this value in the drinking water and the groundwater were estimated to be 0.03% and 1.4%, respectively. Thus, the proportions of water samples exceeding the standard value were smaller than those of the food and soil samples.

	Nauli village			Simalagi village					
Sample	ADI (µg/kg/day)		HQ		ADI (µg/kg/day)		HQ		
	Adult	Child	Adult	Child	Adult	Child	Adult	Child	
	Oral ($RfD = 0.3 \ \mu g/kg/day$)								
Rice	0.34	0.63	1.1	2.1	0.30	0.54	1.0	1.8	
Vegetables	0.52	0.93	1.7	3.1	0.10	0.18	0.3	0.6	
Drinking water	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.07	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.06	
Soil	0.04	0.28	0.13	0.95	0.00	0.02	0.01	0.08	
	Dermal ($RfD = 0.3 \ \mu g/kg/day$)								
Groundwater	4.9×10^{-7}	2.5×10^{-6}	1.6×10^{-6}	8.5×10^{-6}	$4.5 imes 10^{-7}$	2.3×10^{-6}	1.5×10^{-6}	7.7×10^{-6}	
Soil	1.6×10^{-2}	8.0×10^{-2}	5.2×10^{-2}	$2.7 imes 10^{-1}$	1.4×10^{-3}	7.0×10^{-3}	4.5×10^{-3}	$2.3 imes 10^{-2}$	
	Inhalation ($RfD = 0.086 \ \mu g/kg/day$)								
Soil	5.7 × 10 ⁻⁶	1.3 × 10 ⁻⁵	6.7 × 10 ⁻⁵	1.5 × 10 ⁻⁴	5.0×10^{-7}	1.1 × 10 ⁻⁶	5.9 × 10 ⁻⁶	1.3 × 10 ⁻ 5	

Table 3.3. Average daily intake (ADI) and hazard quotient (HQ) of Hg for the resident

3.3.7 Resident health risk assessment

The ADIs and HQs of food, drinking water, soil and groundwater samples are shown in Table 3.3. The ADIs of the residents from rice for children and adults in all the study areas were far higher than the USEPA recommended guideline values. However, vegetable samples in Simalagi village were indeed lower than the USEPA recommended guideline values. For oral exposure, the consumption limit is $0.3 \mu g/kg/day$ for adult and children (DEA, 2010b; US EPA, 2011). The HQ of rice and vegetables was the highest of the consumption sources in Nauli village. The HQ of rice was 2.1 and 1.1 in Nauli village and 1.8 and 1.0 in Simalagi village for children and adults, respectively. The HQ of the vegetables from Nauli village exceeded the safe value but was below the safe value in Simalagi village for both adults and children. The high HQ for rice may be caused by the high daily consumption of rice in the community because it is the staple food. Likewise, the HQ for vegetables from Nauli village was high because of the high Hg concentration in these plants. However, the ADI of drinking water and soil was far below the safe limit and the HQ value was below 1 for all study areas for children and adults. The soil ingestion pathway exposure has a value that is near the threshold for having an impact on human health, especially Nauli village.

Even though the ADI of dermal and Inhalation exposure was very low, it has had an impact on society. According to USEPA, the absorption limit for dermal exposure is 0.3 $\mu g/kg/day$ for adults and children, and the absorption limit for inhalation exposure is 0.086 $\mu g/kg/day$ for adults and children (DEA, 2010b; US EPA, 2011). The relatively low ADI and HQ values arise from the low potential for entry into the body owing to various factors, such as dermal absorption and particulate emission. Several similar studies have also shown a low HQ value for oral ingestion, inhalation and dermal exposure from soil in both children and adults. Sources of exposure vary between ASGM and agriculture (Table S2).

The health risk assessment of Hg via oral ingestion exposure showed that rice and vegetables have an HQ value above 1, which means that rice and vegetables have the potential to affect health in children and adults. A similar study by Novirsa et al. (2020) in Indonesia shows that rice consumption and oral exposure have a high HQ value and can affect health (Novirsa et al., 2020b). The average ADI of people living in the mining area in this study was 0.116 μ g/kg/day (range 0.040–0.240 μ g/kg/day). Natasha et al. (2020) calculated the possible health risks associated with the consumption of Hg contaminated food both in adults and children (Natasha et al., 2020). The study concluded that the accumulation of Hg in edible plant parts can pose health hazards to both adults and children. As a result, it emphasised the need for effective measures to control the

transfer of Hg from soil to plants and ultimately to humans to minimise health risks.

3.4 Conclusions

Mercury contamination in the gold mining area, Mandailing Natal District, Indonesia, was investigated. The study found high concentrations of Hg in the food, soil and water samples from the study area, despite the gold mining activity only being conducted for about 15 years. The Hg concentrations in the samples collected in Nauli village were statistically higher than those in Simalagi village, and the horizontal distribution of Hg concentrations in the study area was strongly related to the distance from the burning facility. This result suggested that a distance of more than 500 m from the burning site is needed to reduce Hg exposure. According to the safe value from the Indonesian National Standard or the permissible tolerable value from the FAO/WHO, the level of Hg contamination in vegetables and rice was above these values, making them unfit for human consumption. With an HQ greater than 1, this study indicates a possible health risk for people who mostly consume locally grown vegetables and grains. Hg contamination in vegetables and rice cultivated in the regions of this study will certainly rise over time due to the Hg deposition to the soil by gold mining activities. Further monitoring of and countermeasures against Hg contamination are required to reduce the health risks for residents.

CHAPTER IV CONCLUSIONS

4.1 Conclusions

In conclusion, the two studies collectively present a disconcerting panorama of mercury contamination that pervades various environmental components. These contaminants span across the spectrum, affecting air, soil, water, sediment, and even permeating into the food chain, including vegetables and grains. In the first study, the pronounced emphasis on soil as a primary contributor to mercury contamination underscores its pivotal role, particularly in influencing the safety of agricultural produce, specifically vegetables. This highlights the imperative need to devise strategies to curtail and mitigate soil pollution as a fundamental step in ensuring the integrity of food sources in these regions.

Furthermore, the study identifies a particularly vulnerable group: areas characterized by artisanal small-scale gold mining (ASGM). Vegetables originating from such regions are notably unsafe for consumption due to heightened mercury contamination, posing a considerable health risk to the local population. The implications are profound, necessitating urgent intervention and comprehensive regulatory measures in ASGM areas to safeguard both human health and the environment.

The presence of significant mercury concentrations in human hair, as indicated in the first study, raises concerns about direct human exposure. This observation underscores the pressing need for health monitoring and risk assessment in affected communities, emphasizing the urgent necessity for public health intervention and education to mitigate potential adverse health outcomes.

Additionally, the study hints at a possible correlation between soil-vegetable and sediment-aquatic food contaminations, suggesting that controlling mercury contamination at its source, such as soil and sediment, may have a cascading effect in reducing contamination in food sources. This notion underscores the interconnectedness of various environmental compartments and underscores the importance of holistic environmental management strategies.

Shifting focus to study case in the second study, it sheds light on the enduring legacy of mercury contamination in the Mandailing Natal district, even after 15 years of gold mining activity cessation. This highlights the persistence of the problem and the longterm ecological impact of such mining operations. The study stresses that mercury contamination remains prevalent in environmental components like soil, water, and food,

38

with a notable emphasis on local vegetables and grains. The mention of a "Hazard Quotient >1" underscores the immediate health risks posed by elevated mercury levels in these food sources.

Moreover, the study offers a stark warning regarding the future trajectory of mercury contamination, particularly in crops. Ongoing mining activities are predicted to exacerbate mercury contamination in food sources, necessitating ongoing monitoring and intervention efforts to mitigate long-term health and environmental risks.

In conclusion, these two studies present a sobering account of widespread mercury contamination across multiple environmental media and food sources. They emphasize the urgent need for comprehensive intervention strategies, including soil remediation, health monitoring, public education, and regulatory measures, especially in ASGM areas. Furthermore, they underscore the enduring impact of past mining activities and the imperative of proactive measures to protect both the environment and the health of local communities from the continued threat of mercury contamination.

4.2 Recommendation

Considering the significantly elevated levels of mercury (Hg), particularly in the food chain within the vicinity of the Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining (ASGM) area, it is strongly advised that the local community refrains from consuming such food items. Furthermore, it is recommended that the government disseminate this information to the affected community.

There is a distinct possibility that mercury contamination in the environment, specifically in soil, sediment, vegetables, and rice within the ASGM area, will progressively escalate over time due to the deposition of mercury resulting from gold mining activities.

Further studies on risk management strategies in environmental media are crucial to prevent new cases of mercury contamination. Comprehensive evaluations of mitigation approaches are needed to address the complex challenges posed by mercury pollution. By exploring innovative and context-specific techniques, researchers can develop targeted interventions to minimize mercury emissions and enhance containment measures at pollution sources.

A collaborative effort involving government bodies, research institutions, and local communities is essential to effectively reduce the risk of mercury exposure and safeguard the health and well-being of the Indonesian population and the environment. Implementing and enforcing countermeasures to mitigate mercury contamination is vital to prevent further escalation of health risks for residents in affected regions.

REFERENCES

- Abbas, H. H., Sakakibara, M., Sera, K., & Arma, L. H. (2017). Mercury exposure and health problems in urban artisanal gold mining (UAGM) in Makassar, South Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Geosciences (Switzerland)*, 7(3). https://doi.org/10.3390/geosciences7030044
- Addai-Arhin, S., Novirsa, R., Jeong, H. H., Phan, Q. D., Hirota, N., Ishibashi, Y., Shiratsuchi, H., & Arizono, K. (2022). Potential human health risks of mercurycontaminated cassavas – Preliminary studies. *Fundamental Toxicological Sciences*, 9(2), 61–69. https://doi.org/10.2131/fts.9.61
- Afiyatillah, G., Sulistiono, Hariyadi, S., Simanjuntak, C. P. H., Riani, E., Rostika, R., & Kleinertz, S. (2022). Heavy Metals (Hg, Cd, Pb, Cu) in Greenback Mullets (Planiliza subviridis Valenciennes, 1836) from Bojonegara coastal waters, Banten Bay, Indonesia. *Ilmu Kelautan: Indonesian Journal of Marine Sciences*, 27(2), 169–180. https://doi.org/10.14710/ik.ijms.27.2.169-180
- Agil, M., Laswati, H., Purwitasari, N., & Ma'arif, B. (2021). Analysis of heavy metal contents of marsilea crenata presl. leaves and soils from East Java Province, Indonesia. *Pharmacognosy Journal*, 13(1), 17–22. https://doi.org/10.5530/pj.2021.13.3
- Agrawal, S., & Susilorini, B. (2020). National Overview of the Indonesian ASGM Sector. https://rc-sea.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/12/National-Overview-of-ASGM-in-Indonesia-FINAL-31-Oct-2020.pdf
- Arifin, Y. I., Sakakibara, M., & Sera, K. (2015). Impacts of artisanal and small-scale gold mining (ASGM) on environment and human health of Gorontalo utara regency, Gorontalo Province, Indonesia. *Geosciences (Switzerland)*, 5(2), 160–176. https://doi.org/10.3390/geosciences5020160
- Asmysari, A. S., Irawan, B., & Soegianto, A. (2013). Concentrations of Lead, Cadmium, and Mercury in Halfbeaks (Hyporhampus affinis) from the East Java Coast, Indonesia and Human Health Hazard. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment*, 19(1), 151–157. https://doi.org/10.1080/10807039.2012.729140
- Astuti, R. D. P., Mallongi, A., & Rauf, A. U. (2021). Risk identification of Hg and Pb in soil: a case study from Pangkep Regency, Indonesia. *Soil Science Annual*, 72(1). https://doi.org/10.37501/soilsa/135394
- BaliFokus. (2018). Mercury Country Situation Report Indonesia | IPEN.

https://ipen.org/documents/mercury-country-situation-report-indonesia

- Basri, Sakakibara, M., & Sera, K. (2020a). Mercury in Soil and Forage Plants from Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining in the Bombana Area, Indonesia. *Toxics*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics8010015
- Basri, Sakakibara, M., & Sera, K. (2020b). Mercury in soil and forage plants from artisanal and small-scale gold mining in the Bombana area, Indonesia. *Toxics*, 8(1), 15. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics8010015
- Bose-O'Reilly, S., Drasch, G., Beinhoff, C., Rodrigues-Filho, S., Roider, G., Lettmeier,
 B., Maydl, A., Maydl, S., & Siebert, U. (2010). Health assessment of artisanal gold miners in Indonesia. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 408(4), 713–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.10.070
- Bose-O'Reilly, S., Lettmeier, B., Matteucci Gothe, R., Beinhoff, C., Siebert, U., & Drasch,
 G. (2008). Mercury as a serious health hazard for children in gold mining areas. *Environmental Research*, *107*(1), 89–97.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2008.01.009
- Bose-O'Reilly, S., Schierl, R., Nowak, D., Siebert, U., William, J. F., Owi, F. T., & Ir, Y. I. (2016a). A preliminary study on health effects in villagers exposed to mercury in a small-scale artisanal gold mining area in Indonesia. *Environmental Research*, 149, 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.04.007
- Bose-O'Reilly, S., Schierl, R., Nowak, D., Siebert, U., William, J. F., Owi, F. T., & Ir, Y. I. (2016b). A preliminary study on health effects in villagers exposed to mercury in a small-scale artisanal gold mining area in Indonesia. *Environmental Research*, 149, 274–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.04.007
- BPOM. (2017). Maximum Limit of Heavy Metal Contamination in Processed Food (23). National Agency of Drug and Food Control of Indonesia. https://peraturan.infoasn.id/peraturan-kepala-badan-pengawas-obat-dan-makanannomor-23-tahun-2017/
- BPS. (2021). Huta Bargot Sub-district in Figures 2021. Central Bureau of Statistics of Indonesia; Badan Pusat Statistik Kabupaten Mandailing Natal. https://mandailingnatalkab.bps.go.id/publication/2021/09/24/a98d9e0e94a9c73e35 43da54/kecamatan-huta-bargot-dalam-angka-2021.html

Budianta, W., Fahmi, F. L., Arifudin, & Warmada, I. W. (2019). The distribution and

mobility of mercury from artisanal gold mining in river sediments and water, Banyumas, Central Java, Indonesia. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 78(3). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12665-019-8108-4

- Castilhos, Z. C., Rodrigues-Filho, S., Rodrigues, A. P. C., Villas-Bôas, R. C., Siegel, S., Veiga, M. M., & Beinhoff, C. (2006a). Mercury contamination in fish from gold mining areas in Indonesia and human health risk assessment. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 368(1), 320–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.01.039
- Castilhos, Z. C., Rodrigues-Filho, S., Rodrigues, A. P. C., Villas-Bôas, R. C., Siegel, S., Veiga, M. M., & Beinhoff, C. (2006b). Mercury contamination in fish from gold mining areas in Indonesia and human health risk assessment. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 368(1), 320–325. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2006.01.039
- CEC. (1986). Council of the European Communities. The protection of the environment, and in particular of the soil, when sewage sludge is used in agriculture.
- Cheng, Z., Tang, Y., Li, E., Wu, Q., Wang, L., Liu, K., Wang, S., Huang, Y., & Duan, L. (2020). Mercury accumulation in soil from atmospheric deposition in temperate steppe of Inner Mongolia, China. *Environmental Pollution*, 258. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113692
- Chudaifah, L., Irawan, B., & Soegianto, A. (2014). Concentration of lead, cadmium and mercury in common ponyfish (Leiognathus equulus) from East Java Coast, Indonesia and its impact on human health. *Asian Journal of Water, Environment and Pollution*, 11(3), 17–22. https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84924189977&partnerID=40&md5=30d1a5baec44dc4da939dd78a6dfe65f
- CME. (2011). Canada Ministry of the Environment. Soil, ground water and sediment standards for use under Part XV.1 of the Environmental Protection Act. https://www.ontario.ca/page/soil-ground-water-and-sediment-standards-use-underpart-xv1-environmental-protection-act
- Council of the European Communities. (1986). *The protection of the environment, and in particular of the soil, when sewage sludge is used in agriculture*. Council Directive of 12 June 1986. https://www.legislation.gov.uk/eudr/1986/278/2018-07-04/data.pdf
- DEA. (2010a). Department Environmental Affairs. Framework for the management of contaminated land, South Africa. Republic of South Africa. (p. 326).

http://sawic.environment.gov.za/documents/518.pdf

- DEA. (2010b). Framework for the management of contaminated land, South Africa. Republic of South Africa. Department Environmental Affairs. http://sawic.environment.gov.za/documents/518.pdf
- Djatmiko, A., Kristiani Purwendah, E., & Pudyastiwi, E. (2019). Benefits of Indonesia Ratification of Minamata Convention on Mercury. *International Journal of Business, Economics and Law, 18.* http://ppid.menlhk.go.id
- Drwiega, Y. I. (2018). *Illegal and illicit mercury trade in Indonesia*. https://www.planetgold.org/illegal-and-illicit-trade-mercury-indonesia
- Ekawanti, A., & Krisnayanti, B. D. (2015). Effect of Mercury Exposure on Renal Function and Hematological Parameters among Artisanal and Small-scale Gold Miners at Sekotong, West Lombok, Indonesia. *Journal of Health & Pollution*, 5(9), 25–32. https://doi.org/10.5696/2156-9614-5-9.25
- Elvince, R., Inoue, T., Tsushima, K., Takayanagi, R., Ardianor, Darung, U., Gumiri, S., Dohong, S., Nagafuchi, O., Kawakami, T., & Yamada, T. (2008). Assessment of Mercury Contamination in the Kahayan River, Central Kalimantan, Indonesia. *Journal of Water and Environment Technology*, 6(2), 103–112. https://doi.org/10.2965/jwet.2008.103
- Enamorado-Montes, G., Reino-Causil, B., Urango-Cardenas, I., Marrugo-Madrid, S., & Marrugo-Negrete, J. (2021). Mercury Accumulation in Commercial Varieties of Oryza sativa L. Cultivated in Soils of La Mojana Region, Colombia. *Toxics*, 9(11), 304. https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics9110304
- EPAA. (2018). Environment Protection Authority of Australia. Classification and Management of Contaminated Soil for Disposal (E. P. A. of Australia, Ed.). Information Bulletin 105. https://epa.tas.gov.au/business-industry/regulation/wastemanagement/controlled-waste/handling-controlled-waste-in-tasmania/requiredapprovals-authorisations-for-controlled-waste-management/classification-andmanagement-of-contaminated-soil
- Ernawati, Sutomo, A. H., & Indwiani, A. A. (2021). Overview of 8-hydroxy-2'deoxyguanosine (8-ohdg) as DNA damage biomarker in infants who live near gold mines, Yogyakarta, Indonesia. *Indian Journal of Public Health Research and Development*, 12(2), 101–105. https://doi.org/10.37506/ijphrd.v12i2.14102

- Feng, X., Li, P., Qiu, G., Wang, S., Li, G., Shang, L., Meng, B., Jiang, H., Bai, W., Li, Z., & Fu, X. (2008). Human exposure to methylmercury through rice intake in mercury mining areas, Guizhou province, China. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 42(1), 326–332. https://doi.org/10.1021/es071948x
- Gafur, N. A., Sakakibara, M., Sano, S., & Sera, K. (2018). A case study of heavy metal pollution in water of Bone River by Artisanal Small-Scale Gold Mine Activities in Eastern Part of Gorontalo, Indonesia. *Water (Switzerland)*, 10(11). https://doi.org/10.3390/w10111507
- Gibb, H., & O'Leary, K. G. (2014). Mercury exposure and health impacts among individuals in the artisanal and small-scale gold mining community: A comprehensive review. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 122(7), 667–672. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.1307864
- Hamuna, B., & Tanjung, R. H. R. (2021). Heavy metal content and spatial distribution to determine the water pollution index in depapre waters, Papua, Indonesia. *Current Applied Science and Technology*, 21(1), 1–11. https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85089498263&partnerID=40&md5=7f69d15ba939588c8fa1ea5f8db83329
- Handayani, T., Maarif, M. S., Riani, E., & Djazuli, N. (2019). Mercury levels and tolerable weekly intakes (TWI) of tuna and tuna-like species from the Southern Indian Ocean (Indonesia): Public health perspective. *Biodiversitas*, 20(2), 504–509. https://doi.org/10.13057/biodiv/d200229
- Hardiyanti, F., Hermawati, E., Fitria, L., Rizki, S. R., & Agustina, U. (2020). The association between levels of mercury in the hair with proteinuria on scavengers in cipayung landfill area, depok city, west java, indonesia. *Indian Journal of Public Health Research and Development*, 11(4), 1726–1730. https://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&id=L2004504611 & from=export
- Harianja, A. H., Saragih, G. S., Fauzi, R., Hidayat, M. Y., Syofyan, Y., Tapriziah, E. R., & Kartiningsih, S. E. (2020a). Mercury Exposure in Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining Communities in Sukabumi, Indonesia. *Journal of Health and Pollution*, *10*(28), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.5696/2156-9614-10.28.201209

Harianja, A. H., Saragih, G. S., Fauzi, R., Hidayat, M. Y., Syofyan, Y., Tapriziah, E. R.,

& Kartiningsih, S. E. (2020b). Mercury Exposure in Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining Communities in Sukabumi, Indonesia. *Journal of Health & Pollution*, *10*(28), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.5696/2156-9614-10.28.201209

- Hiola, R. (2017). Mercury levels in the river water and urine of traditional gold miners in Hulawa village east Sumalata district north Gorontalo regency. *Research Journal of Medical Sciences*, 11(2), 89–94. https://doi.org/10.3923/rjmsci.2017.89.94
- Horowitz, H. M., Jacob, D. J., Zhang, Y., Dibble, T. S., Slemr, F., Amos, H. M., Schmidt, J. A., Corbitt, E. S., & Marais, E. A. (2017). A new mechanism for atmospheric mercury redox chemistry: Implications for the global mercury budget. *Atmos. Chem. Phys. Discuss.* https://doi.org/10.5194/acp-2016-1165
- Idrus, A., Prihatmoko, S., Harjanto, E., Meyer, F. M., Nur, I., Widodo, W., & Agung, L. N. (2017). Metamorphic rock-hosted orogenic gold deposit style at Bombana (Southeast Sulawesi) and Buru Island (Maluku): Their key features and significances for gold exploration in Eastern Indonesia. *Journal of Geoscience, Engineering, Environment, and Technology, 2*(2), 124. https://doi.org/10.24273/jgeet.2017.2.2.291
- IFDA. (2022). Indonesia Food and Drug Administration Regulation no.9 of 2022 concerning Requirements for Heavy Metal Contaminants in Processed Food. Indonesia Food and Drug Administration. https://peraturan.go.id/id/peraturanbpom-no-9-tahun-2022
- IMEF. (2021). Indonesia Minister of Environment and Forestry Regulation No. 6 of 2021 concerning Procedures and Requirements for Managing Hazardous and Toxic Waste
 (D. E. A. of Indonesia, Ed.; Issue No.6). https://jdih.menlhk.go.id/new/uploads/files/2021pmlhk006_menlhk_06082021104 752.pdf
- IMH. (2012). Guidelines for Environmental Health Risk Analysis, Directorate General of PP and PL, Ministry of Health, 2012.
- IMH. (2017a). Indonesia Minister of Health Regulation No. 32 of 2017 concerning Environmental Health Quality Standards and Water Health Requirements for Sanitary Hygiene, Swimming Pools, Solus Per Aqua, and Public Baths (I. M. of Health, Ed.; Issue No.32). https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/112092/permenkes-no-32-tahun-2017

- IMH. (2017b). Indonesia Minister of Health Regulation No. 32 of 2017 concerning Environmental Health Quality Standards and Water Health Requirements for Sanitary Hygiene, Swimming Pools, Solus Per Aqua, and Public Baths (32). Minister of Health of Indonesia. https://peraturan.bpk.go.id/Home/Details/112092/permenkes-no-32-tahun-2017
- IPEN. (2018). *Mercury Country Situation Report Indonesia*. International Pollutants Elimination Network. https://ipen.org/documents/mercury-country-situation-report-indonesia
- IQBAL Rofiq, & INOUE Takanobu. (2011). Mercury Pollution in Java Island:Past and Present. Journal of Ecotechnology Research, 16(2), 51–57. https://doi.org/10.11190/jer.16.51
- Kambey, J. L., Farrell, A. P., & Bendell-Young, L. I. (2001). Influence of illegal gold mining on mercury levels in fish of north Sulawesi's Minahasa Peninsula, (Indonesia). *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex : 1987)*, 114(3), 299–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0269-7491(01)00163-4
- Kono, Y., Rahajoe, J. S., Hidayati, N., Kodamatani, H., & Tomiyasu, T. (2012). Using native epiphytic ferns to estimate the atmospheric mercury levels in a small-scale gold mining area of West Java, Indonesia. *Chemosphere*, 89(3), 241–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.04.027
- Kono, Y., & Tomiyasu, T. (2013). Quantitative Evaluation of Real-time Measurements of Atmospheric Mercury in a Mercury- contaminated Area. *Journal of Environment* and Safety, 4(2), 2_153-2_157. https://doi.org/10.11162/daikankyo.ES12P1201
- Krisnayanti, B. D., Anderson, C. W. N., Utomo, W. H., Feng, X., Handayanto, E., Mudarisna, N., Ikram, H., & Khususiah. (2012). Assessment of environmental mercury discharge at a four-year-old artisanal gold mining area on Lombok Island, Indonesia. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 14(10), 2598–2607. https://doi.org/10.1039/c2em30515a
- Krisnayanti, B. D., Vassura, I., Asmara, M. D., Ekawanti, A., & Suheri, H. (2016).
 Analysis of Artisanal Small-scale Gold Mining Sector in West Sumbawa Regency,
 Indonesia. *Journal of Health & Pollution*, 6(12), 26–33.
 https://doi.org/10.5696/2156-9614-6.12.26
- Kulesa, A., Krzywinski, M., Blainey, P., & Altman, N. (2015). Sampling distributions and

the bootstrap. Nature Methods, 12, 477-478. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3414

- Leady, B. S., & Gottgens, J. F. (2001). Mercury accumulation in sediment cores and along food chains in two regions of the Brazilian Pantanal. In *Wetlands Ecology and Management* (Vol. 9).
- Li, R., Wu, H., DIng, J., Fu, W., Gan, L., & Li, Y. (2017). Mercury pollution in vegetables, grains and soils from areas surrounding coal-fired power plants. *Scientific Reports*, 7. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep46545
- Limbong, D., Kumampung, J., Rimper, J., Arai, T., & Miyazaki, N. (2003). Emissions and environmental implications of mercury from artisanal gold mining in north Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Science of The Total Environment*, 302(1–3), 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00397-2
- Mallongi, A., Parkpian, P., Pataranawat, P., & Chinwetkitvanich, S. (2015). Mercury distribution and its potential environmental and health risks in aquatic habitat at artisanal buladu gold mine in Gorontalo Province, Indonesia. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 14(12), 1010–1025. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjn.2015.1010.1025
- Mallongi, A., Pataranawat, P., & Parkpian, P. (2014). Mercury emission from artisanal buladu gold mine and its bioaccumulation in rice grains, Gorontalo Province, Indonesia. *Advanced Materials Research*, 931–932, 744–748. https://doi.org/10.4028/www.scientific.net/AMR.931-932.744
- Mallongi, A., Stang, Syamsuar, Natsir, M. F., Astuti, R. D. P., Rauf, A. U., Rachmat, M., & Muhith, A. (2020). Potential ecological risks of mercury contamination along communities area in tonasa cement industry Pangkep, Indonesia. *Enfermeria Clinica*, 30, 119–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enfcli.2019.10.054
- Marselina, M., & Suhada, Q. A. R. (2020). Lead and mercury bioaccumulation in the fish of floating net cage fisheries. In *EnvironmentAsia* (Vol. 13, Issue 3, pp. 50–60). Thai Society of Higher Eduation Institutes on Environment. https://doi.org/10.14456/ea.2020.41
- Meng, B., Feng, X., Qiu, G., Cai, Y., Wang, D., Li, P., Shang, L., & Sommar, J. (2010).
 Distribution patterns of inorganic mercury and methylmercury in tissues of rice (Oryza sativa L.) plants and possible bioaccumulation pathways. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 58(8), 4951–4958. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf904557x

- Meng, B., Feng, X., Qiu, G., Liang, P., Li, P., Chen, C., & Shang, L. (2011). The process of methylmercury accumulation in rice (Oryza sativa L.). *Environmental Science* and Technology, 45(7), 2711–2717. https://doi.org/10.1021/es103384v
- Meng, M., Li, B., Shao, J. J., Wang, T., He, B., Shi, J. B., Ye, Z. H., & Jiang, G. Bin. (2014). Accumulation of total mercury and methylmercury in rice plants collected from different mining areas in China. *Environmental Pollution*, 184, 179–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2013.08.030
- Minister of Environment and Forestry. (2021). Minister of Environment and Forestry Regulation No. 6 of 2021 concerning Procedures and Requirements for Managing Hazardous and Toxic Waste (6). Department Environmental Affairs of Indonesia. https://jdih.menlhk.go.id/new/uploads/files/2021pmlhk006_menlhk_06082021104 752.pdf
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., & Altman, D. G. (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. In *BMJ (Online)* (Vol. 339, Issue 7716, pp. 332–336). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b2535
- Murao, S., Tomiyasu, T., Ono, K., Shibata, H., Narisawa, N., & Takenaka, C. (2019).
 Mercury distribution in artisanal and small-scale gold mining area: A case study of hot spots in Camarines Norte, Philippines. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Development*, 10(5), 122–129.
 https://doi.org/10.18178/ijesd.2019.10.5.1160
- Nakazawa, K., Nagafuchi, O., Kawakami, T., Inoue, T., Elvince, R., Kanefuji, K., Nur, I., Napitupulu, M., Basir-Cyio, M., Kinoshita, H., & Shinozuka, K. (2021). Human health risk assessment of atmospheric mercury inhalation around three artisanal smallscale gold mining areas in Indonesia. *Environmental Science: Atmospheres*, *1*(6), 423–433. https://doi.org/10.1039/d0ea00019a
- Nakazawa, K., Nagafuchi, O., Kawakami, T., Inoue, T., Yokota, K., Serikawa, Y., Basir-Cyio, M., & Elvince, R. (2016). Human health risk assessment of mercury vapor around artisanal small-scale gold mining area, Palu city, Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 124, 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.09.042
- Nakazawa, K., Nagafuchi, O., Kawakami, T., Inoue, T., Yokota, K., Serikawa, Y., Cyio, B., & Elvince, R. (2016). Human health risk assessment of mercury vapor around

artisanal small-scale gold mining area, Palu city, Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 124, 155–162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.09.042

- Nakoe, M. R., Ardian, Y., Ruhardi, A., Dwinugroho, F., Yudhastuti, R., Sulistyorini, L., Azizah, R., & Indriani, D. (2014). Risk assessment exposure of mercury (Hg) at people who consuming Nila fish (Oreochromis niloticus) from Limboto lake of Gorontalo province. *Research Journal of Pharmaceutical, Biological and Chemical Sciences*, 5(5), 1420–1427. https://www.embase.com/search/results?subaction=viewrecord&id=L600051616& from=export
- Natasha, Shahid, M., Khalid, S., Bibi, I., Bundschuh, J., Khan Niazi, N., & Dumat, C. (2020). A critical review of mercury speciation, bioavailability, toxicity and detoxification in soil-plant environment: Ecotoxicology and health risk assessment. *Science of the Total Environment*, 711, 134749. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134749
- Nisah, K., Muslem, M., Ashari, T. M., Afkar, M., & Iqhrammullah, M. (2022). Distribution of Mercury in Soil, Water, and Vegetable Fern in a Former Gold Mining Area – Evidence from Nagan Raya Regency, Aceh Province, Indonesia. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, 23(8), 30–39. https://doi.org/10.12911/22998993/150684
- NJDH. (2009). New Jersey Department of Health. Right to Know Hazardous Substance Fact Sheet. https://nj.gov/health/eoh/rtkweb/documents/fs/1183.pdf
- Novirsa, R., Dinh, Q. P., Jeong, H., Addai-Arhin, S., Nugraha, W. C., Hirota, N., Wispriyono, B., Ishibashi, Y., & Arizono, K. (2020a). The dietary intake of mercury from rice and human health risk in artisanal small-scale gold mining area, Indonesia. *Fundamental Toxicology Sciences*, 7(5), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.2131/fts.7.215
- Novirsa, R., Dinh, Q. P., Jeong, H., Addai-Arhin, S., Nugraha, W. C., Hirota, N., Wispriyono, B., Ishibashi, Y., & Arizono, K. (2020b). The dietary intake of mercury from rice and human health risk in artisanal small-scale gold mining area, Indonesia. *Fundamental Toxicological Sciences*, 7(5), 215–225. https://doi.org/10.2131/fts.7.215
- Novirsa, R., Dinh, Q. P., Jeong, H., Fukushima, S., Ishibashi, Y., Wispriyono, B., & Arizono, K. (2019). The evaluation of mercury contamination in upland rice paddy

field around artisanal small-scale gold mining area, Lebaksitu, Indonesia. *Journal of Environment* and Safety, 10(2), 119–125. https://doi.org/10.11162/daikankyo.E19RP0103

- Novirsa, R., Quang, P., Jeong, H., Fukushima, S., Ishibashi, Y., Wispriyono, B., & Arizono, K. (2019). The evaluation of mercury contamination in upland rice paddy field around artisanal small-scale gold mining area, Lebaksitu, Indonesia. *Journal of Environment and Safety*, 10(2), 119–125. https://doi.org/10.11162/daikankyo.E19RP0103
- OECD/FAO. (2021a). OECD-FAO Agricultural Outlook 2021-2030. OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/19428846-en
- OECD/FAO. (2021b). Table C.16.2 Rice projections: Consumption, food. OECD Publishing, Paris. https://doi.org/10.1787/f4601323-en
- Presidential Regulation No. 21. National Action Plan for the Reduction and Abolishment of Mercury, (2019).
- Pridianata, V. E., Tualeka, A. R., Lain, B., Rahmawati, P., Russeng, S. S., Wahyu, A., & Ahsan. (2019). Determination of dosage reference (Rfd) of mercury based on noael and characteristics of workers in the area of unlicensed gold mining (peti) maluku province indonesia. *Indian Journal of Public Health Research and Development*, 10(9), 1207–1212. https://doi.org/10.5958/0976-5506.2019.02608.1
- Rahayu, S. M., Suseno, S. H., & Ibrahim, B. (2014). Proximate, latty acid profile and heavy metal content of selected by-catch fish species from Muara Angke, Indonesia. *Pakistan Journal of Nutrition*, 13(8), 480–485. https://doi.org/10.3923/pjn.2014.480.485
- Rahman, A., Sari, N. P., Wispriyono, B., Novirsa, R., Simanjuntak, J. O., Fukushima, S., Arizono, K., & Kusnoputranto, H. (2019). Risk assessment and community health profile among residents living in Artisanal and Small-scale Gold Mining site in Ciguha, Gunung Pongkor, Bogor. *Journal of Environment and Safety*, 10(2), 127– 136. https://doi.org/10.11162/daikankyo.E19RP0301
- Ramlan, Basir-Cyio, M., Napitupulu, M., Inoue, T., Anshary, A., Mahfudz, Isrun, Rusydi, M., Golar, Sulbadana, & Bakri, R. (2022). Pollution and contamination level of Cu, Cd, and Hg heavy metals in soil and food crop. *International Journal of Environmental Science and Technology*, 19(3), 1153–1164.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s13762-021-03345-8

- Rauf, A. U., Mallongi, A., & Astuti, R. D. P. (2020). Mercury and chromium distribution in soil near maros karst ecosystem. *Carpathian Journal of Earth and Environmental Sciences*, 15(2), 453–460. https://doi.org/10.26471/CJEES/2020/015/144
- Rea, A. W., Lindberg, S. E., & Keeler, G. J. (2001). Dry deposition and foliar leaching of mercury and selected trace elements in deciduous forest throughfall. *Atmospheric Environment*, 35(20), 3453–3462. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1352-2310(01)00133-9
- Reichelt-Brushett, A. J., Stone, J., Howe, P., Thomas, B., Clark, M., Male, Y., Nanlohy, A., & Butcher, P. (2017). Geochemistry and mercury contamination in receiving environments of artisanal mining wastes and identified concerns for food safety. *Environmental Research*, 152, 407–418. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2016.07.007
- Riani, E., Cordova, M. R., & Arifin, Z. (2018). Heavy metal pollution and its relation to the malformation of green mussels cultured in Muara Kamal waters, Jakarta Bay, Indonesia. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 133, 664–670. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2018.06.029
- Riaz, A., Khan, S., Muhammad, S., & Shah, M. T. (2019). Mercury Contamination in Water and Sediments and the Associated Health Risk: A Case Study of Artisanal Gold-mining. *Mine Water and the Environment*, 38(4), 847–854. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10230-019-00613-5
- Rusman, A. D. P., Umar, F., Haniarti, Majid, M., Usman, Hengky, H. K., Herlina, Malik,
 D. P., Sahdi, Y. W., & Tambaru, R. (2020). Analysis of heavy metal lead (Pb) and
 mercury (Hg) in coastal city of prepare, Indonesia. *Plant Archives*, 20, 2309–2311.
 https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-

85090475699&partnerID=40&md5=ec9fd6eb1f90900876c837a59ddf486f

- Sakakibara, M., & Sera, K. (2017). Current Mercury Exposure from Artisanal and Small-Scale Gold Mining in Bombana, Southeast Sulawesi, Indonesia-Future Significant Health Risks. *Toxics*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/toxics5010007
- Saragih, G. S., Tapriziah, E. R., Syofyan, Y., Masitoh, S., Pandiangan, Y. S. H., & Andriantoro. (2021a). Mercury Contamination in Selected Edible Plants and Soil from Artisanal and Small-scale Gold Mining in Sukabumi Regency, Indonesia. *Makara Journal of Science*, 25(4), 222–228. https://doi.org/10.7454/mss.v25i4.1280

- Saragih, G. S., Tapriziah, E. R., Syofyan, Y., Masitoh, S., Pandiangan, Y. S. H., & Andriantoro. (2021b). Mercury Contamination in Selected Edible Plants and Soil from Artisanal and Small-scale Gold Mining in Sukabumi Regency, Indonesia. *Makara Journal of Science*, 25(4), 222–228. https://doi.org/10.7454/mss.v25i4.1280
- Sarkar, B., Mitchell, E., Frisbie, S., Grigg, L., Adhikari, S., & Maskey Byanju, R. (2022).
 Drinking Water Quality and Public Health in the Kathmandu Valley, Nepal: Coliform Bacteria, Chemical Contaminants, and Health Status of Consumers. *Journal of Environmental and Public Health*, 2022, 3895859.
 https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/3895859
- SCOEL. (2007). Recommendation from the Scientific Committee on Occupational Exposure Limits for elemental mercury and inorganic divalent mercury compounds. https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=3852&langId=en
- Shepherd, T., Rumengan, I., & Sahami, A. (2018). Post-depositional behaviour of mercury and arsenic in submarine mine tailings deposited in Buyat Bay, North Sulawesi, Indonesia. *Marine Environmental Research*, 137, 88–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2018.02.028
- Siregar, T. H., Priyanto, N., Putri, A. K., Rachmawati, N., Triwibowo, R., Dsikowitzky, L., & Schwarzbauer, J. (2016). Spatial distribution and seasonal variation of the trace hazardous element contamination in Jakarta Bay, Indonesia. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 110(2), 634–646. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2016.05.008
- Soegianto, A., Nurfiyanti, P. E., Saputri, R. N. R., Affandi, M., & Payus, C. M. (2022). Assessment of the health risks related with metal accumulation in blue swimming crab (Portunus pelagicus) caught in East Java coastal waters, Indonesia. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 177, 113573. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2022.113573
- Soegianto, A., Putranto, T. W. C., Lutfi, W., Almirani, F. N., Hidayat, A. R., Muhammad,
 A., Firdaus, R. A., Rahmadhani, Y. S., Fadila, D. A. N., & Hidayati, D. (2020).
 Concentrations of Metals in Tissues of Cockle Anadara granosa (Linnaeus, 1758)
 from East Java Coast, Indonesia, and Potential Risks to Human Health. *International Journal of Food Science*, 2020, 5345162. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/5345162
- Soegianto, A., Putranto, T. W. C., Payus, C. M., Wahyuningsih, D., Wati, F. N. I. R., Utamadi, F. H. B., Widyaningsih, N. S., & Sinuraya, S. (2021). Metal concentrations and potential health risk in clam (Meretrix lyrata Sowerby 1851) tissues from East

Java Coast, Indonesia. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 193(11), 753. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-021-09542-9

- Soegianto, A., Wahyuni, H. I., Yulianto, B., & Manaf, L. A. (2022). Health risk assessment of metals in mud crab (Scylla serrata) from the East Java Estuaries of Indonesia. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*, 90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.etap.2022.103810
- Soetrisno, F. N., & Delgado-Saborit, J. M. (2020). Chronic exposure to heavy metals from informal e-waste recycling plants and children's attention, executive function and academic performance. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 717, 137099. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.137099
- Staven, L. H., Napier, B. A., Rhoads, K., & Strenge, D. L. (2003). A Compendium of Transfer Factors for Agricultural and Animal Products | PNNL. Pacific Northwest National Laboratory (PNNL). https://www.pnnl.gov/publications/compendiumtransfer-factors-agricultural-and-animal-products
- Suhud, K., Wahidah, S., Maulana, I., Idroes, R., Suprayitno, S., Lelifajri, L., & Fudholi,
 A. (2020). Mercury Analysis with Principal Component Analysis for Water,
 Sediment, and Biota Samples in Aceh, Indonesia. *ARPN Journal of Engineering and Applied* Sciences, 15(16), 1749–1756.
 https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-

85098886700&partnerID=40&md5=1e49dd62371920fa2fc78c1f78e98309

- Suramas, L. Y., Daud, A., & Birawida, A. B. (2019). An analysis of mercury (Hg) content in drinking water with renal dysfunction in the traditional gold miners in tahiitevillage, district of rarowatu, bombana regency. *Indian Journal of Public Health Research and Development*, 10(4), 798–803. https://doi.org/10.5958/0976-5506.2019.00801.5
- Suratno, Purnadayanti, Z., Novianty, H., & Oktaviyani, S. (2021). Total mercury (THg) concentration in Indian scad (decapterus russelli) and torpedo scad (megalaspis cordyla) from southern waters of binuangeun, banten. *Indonesian Journal of Chemistry*, 21(2), 435–442. https://doi.org/10.22146/ijc.56967
- Takiguchi, H., & Tamura, T. (2018). Mercury emission control in Japan. Asian Journal of Atmospheric Environment, 12(1), 37–46. https://doi.org/10.5572/ajae.2018.12.1.037

Tanjung, R. H. R., Hamuna, B., & Yonas, M. N. (2019). Assessing heavy metal

contamination in marine sediments around the coastal waters of mimika regency, Indonesia. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, 20(11). https://doi.org/10.12911/22998993/113411

- Tanjung, R. H. R., Yonas, M. N., Suwito, Maury, H. K., Sarungu, Y., & Hamuna, B. (2022).
 Analysis of Surface Water Quality of Four Rivers in Jayapura Regency, Indonesia:
 CCME-WQI Approach. *Journal of Ecological Engineering*, 23(1), 73–82.
 https://doi.org/10.12911/22998993/143998
- Telmer, K. H., & Veiga, M. M. (2008). World emissions of mercury from artisanal and small scale gold mining and the knowledge gaps about them.
- Tomiyasu, T., Hamada, Y. K., Kodamatani, H., Hidayati, N., & Rahajoe, J. S. (2019). Transport of mercury species by river from artisanal and small-scale gold mining in West Java, Indonesia. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 26(24), 25262–25274. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11356-019-05718-6
- Tomiyasu, T., Kodamatani, H., Hamada, Y. K., Matsuyama, A., Imura, R., Taniguchi, Y., Hidayati, N., & Rahajoe, J. S. (2017). Distribution of total mercury and methylmercury around the small-scale gold mining area along the Cikaniki River, Bogor, Indonesia. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research International*, 24(3), 2643–2652. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-016-7998-x
- Tomiyasu, T., Kono, Y., Kodamatani, H., Hidayati, N., & Rahajoe, J. S. (2013a). The distribution of mercury around the small-scale gold mining area along the Cikaniki river, Bogor, Indonesia. *Environmental Research*, 125, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2013.03.015
- Tomiyasu, T., Kono, Y., Kodamatani, H., Hidayati, N., & Rahajoe, J. S. (2013b). The distribution of mercury around the small-scale gold mining area along the Cikaniki river, Bogor, Indonesia. *Environmental Research*, 125, 12–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2013.03.015
- UNEP. (2013a). Global Mercury Assessment 2013: Sources, emissions, releases, and environmental transport. United Nations Environment Programme. https://wedocs.unep.org/handle/20.500.11822/7984
- UNEP. (2013b). Global Mercury Assessment 2013: Sources, emissions, releases, and environmental transport. United Nations Environment Programme. https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/7984

- UNEP. (2013c). *Mercury: Time to Act.* United Nations Environment Programme. https://wedocs.unep.org/20.500.11822/27436
- UNEP. (2017). *Global mercury supply, trade and demand*. United Nations Environment Programme. www.unep.org/chemicalsandwaste/resources/publications
- UNEP. (2019). *Global Mercury Assessment 2018*. United Nations Environment Programme. https://www.unep.org/resources/publication/global-mercuryassessment-2018
- UNEP. (2022). *Mercury in Indonesia Reducing supply and availability 2022*. BRI and the Nexus3 Foundation. https://www.unep.org/globalmercurypartnership/resources/report/mercuryindonesia-reducing-supply-and-availability-2022
- US EPA. (1989). Risk Assessment Guidance for Superfund Volume I: Human Health Evaluation Manual Supplemental Guidance. United States Environmental Protection Agency. https://www.epa.gov/risk/risk-assessment-guidance-superfundvolume-i-human-health-evaluation-manual-supplemental
- US EPA. (2011). *Exposure Factors Handbook: 2011 Edition*. United States Environmental Protection Agency. https://doi.org/EPA/600/R-090/052F
- USEPA. (1997). Mercury Study Report to Congress. Volume I: Executive Summary (U. S. E. P. Agency, Ed.). https://www.epa.gov/
- Wang, Y., Habibullah-Al-Mamun, M., Han, J., Wang, L., Zhu, Y., Xu, X., Li, N., & Qiu, G. (2020). Total mercury and methylmercury in rice: Exposure and health implications in Bangladesh. *Environmental Pollution*, 265, 114991. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2020.114991
- WHO. (2000). Air quality guidelines for Europe, second edition. World Health
 Organization Regional Office for Europe.
 https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/107335
- WHO. (2006a). Summary report of the sixty-sixth meeting of JECFA. World Health Organization. https://www.fao.org/3/at875e/at875e.pdf
- WHO. (2006b). Summary report of the sixty-sixth meeting of JECFA. World Health Organization. https://www.fao.org/3/at875e/at875e.pdf
- WHO. (2008). Guidance for identifying populations at risk from mercury exposure (p. 176). United Nations Environment Programme, World Health Organization.

https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/guidance-for-identifying-populations-at-risk-from-mercury-exposure

- WHO. (2017). Guidelines for drinking-water quality, fourth edition, incorporating the first addendum. World Health Organization. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/254637
- WHO. (2021a). Educational course. Mercury and human health. https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/345443/9789289055888-eng.pdf
- WHO. (2021b). *Mercury and human health: Educational course*. World Health Organization.

https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/345443/9789289055888-eng.pdf

- Yasuda, M., Yustiawati, Suhaemi Syawal, M., Sikder, M. T., Hosokawa, T., Saito, T., Tanaka, S., & Kurasaki, M. (2011). Metal concentrations of river water and sediments in West Java, Indonesia. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 87(6), 669–673. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00128-011-0411-Z
- Yasuda, M., Yustiawati, Syawal, M. S., Sikder, M. T., Hosokawa, T., Saito, T., Tanaka, S., & Kurasaki, M. (2011). Metal concentrations of river water and sediments in West Java, Indonesia. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 87(6), 669–673. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00128-011-0411-z
- Yeganeh, M., Afyuni, M., Khoshgoftarmanesh, A. H., Khodakarami, L., Amini, M., Soffyanian, A. R., & Schulin, R. (2013). Mapping of human health risks arising from soil nickel and mercury contamination. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 244–245, 225–239. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2012.11.040
- Yu, H., Li, J., & Luan, Y. (2018). Meta-analysis of soil mercury accumulation by vegetables. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-19519-3
- Yulianto, B., Wijaya, W. A., Setyati, W. A., Sunaryo, Santosa, A., Putranto, T. W. C., & Soegianto, A. (2020). Health risk analysis of Cd, Pb and Hg in blood mussel (anadara granosa) from Demak, Central Java, Indonesia. *Asian Journal of Water, Environment* and Pollution, 17(3), 25–30. https://doi.org/10.3233/AJW200031
 - Yustiawati, Syawal, M. S., Terashima, M., & Tanaka, S. (2006). Speciation analysis of mercury in river water in West Java, Indonesia. *Tropics*, 15(4), 425–428. https://doi.org/10.3759/tropics.15.425